

# INDIAN JOURNAL OF PRACTICAL PEDIATRICS



• IJPP is a quarterly subscription journal of the Indian Academy of Pediatrics committed to presenting practical pediatric issues and management updates in a simple and clear manner

Vol 25 No 2 (APR - IIIN ) 2023

• Indexed in EMCare, CABI Publishing, Scopus

Anjul Dayal, Uday Kumar, Shaheera Eram

Vol.25 No.2 (APR JUN.) 2023		
<b>Dr.T.L.Ratnakumari</b> Editor-in-Chief	<b>Dr.G.Durai Arasan</b> Executive Editor	
CONTENTS		
TOPIC OF INTEREST - "PULMONOLOGY"		
Respiratory distress in preterm neonates - A prac	tical approach 115	
Sridhar Kalyanasundaram, Vidya Kanamkote Narayanan		
Respiratory distress in term neonates - An approa	nch 120	
Sindhu Sivanandan		
Pneumonia - Management update	128	
Kamal Kumar Singhal, Megha Goyal		
Asthma - Current guidelines	135	
Pallab Chatterjee		
Bronchiolitis - Recent update	144	
Hema Gupta Mittal, Sonia Bhatt		
Management of childhood tuberculosis	151	
Kalpana S		
Protracted bacterial bronchitis	160	
Sarath Balaji B		
Bronchiectasis - Non cystic fibrosis	165	
Rashmi Ranjan Das, Ketan Kumar, Krishna Mohan Gulla		
Cystic fibrosis	171	
Priyanka Medhi, Sneha Varkki		
Pulmonary manifestations in primary immunodef	iciency 178	
Sagar Bhattad, Neha Singh		
Investigations in obstructive sleep apnea	188	
Neha Mohan Rao, Ilin Kinimi		
Oxygen therapy	196	

**Journal Office and address for communications:** Dr. T.L.Ratnakumari, Editor-in-Chief, Indian Journal of Practical Pediatrics, 1A, Block II, Krsna Apartments, 50, Thamizh Salai (Halls Road), Egmore, Chennai - 600 008. Tamil Nadu, India. Tel.No.: 044-28190032 E.mail: ijpp\_iap@rediffmail.com

Indian Journal of Practical Pediatrics	2023; 25(2):112
Allergen immunotherapy	202
Krishnamohan R	
What's new in congenital diaphragmatic hernia?	206
Velmurugan R, Evangeline Sameul, Vignesh Rajendran V	
GENERAL ARTICLE	
Enteral nutrition in PICU	214
Rajendran K, Madhumitha V	
DRUG PROFILE	
Dosage adjustments in patients with renal impairment - Antibiotics - Part	l 224
Rehna K Rahman, Jeeson C Unni	
RADIOLOGY	
Signs in chest X-ray	230
G Vijayalakshmi, K P Kasi Visalakshi	
CASE REPORT	
Coatomer associated protein complex subunit alpha gene syndrome presenting as interstitial lung disease in an infant	236
Kalpana S, Dharmaprakash A, Rajarajan AC, Saranya Manivannan	
CASE VIGNETTE	
Infant with recurrent infections	239
Janani Sankar, Rajarajeshwari, Niranjan Gurunath Hegde, Meena Sivasankaran	
LEARNING TOGETHER	
Arterial blood gas analysis - Mixed disturbance	240
Annamalai Vijayaraghavan, Thangavelu S	
ADVERTISEMENTS	246
CLIPPINGS 119,143,159,164,170,195,201,205,213,229,235,238	
NEWS & NOTES 134	,143,223

### FOR YOUR KIND ATTENTION

- \* The views expressed by the authors do not necessarily reflect those of the sponsor or publisher. Although every care has been taken to ensure technical accuracy, no responsibility is accepted for errors or omissions.
- \* The claims of the manufacturers and efficacy of the products advertised in the journal are the responsibility of the advertiser. The journal does not own any responsibility for the guarantee of the products advertised.
- \* Part or whole of the material published in this issue may be reproduced with the note "Acknowledgement" to "Indian Journal of Practical Pediatrics" without prior permission.
- \* The write up should be in accordance with the recommendations of Central IAP particularly with issues involving National Programmes like Immunization, Public Health Programs and Nutrition.

**EDITORIAL BOARD** 

Published by Dr. T.L.Ratnakumari, Editor-in-Chief, IJPP, on behalf of Indian Academy of Pediatrics, from 1A, Block II, Krsna Apartments, 50, Thamizh Salai (Halls Road), Egmore, Chennai - 600 008. Tamil Nadu, India and Printed by Mr. D.Ramanathan, at Alamu Printing Works, 9, Iyyah Street, Royapettah, Chennai - 600 014.

# RESPIRATORY DISTRESS IN PRETERM NEONATES - A PRACTICAL APPROACH

### \* Sridhar Kalyanasundaram \*\* Vidya Kanamkote Narayanan

Abstract: Respiratory distress syndrome is one of the most common morbidities faced by a preterm neonate. Many interrelated factors impact the approach to the management of respiratory distress. In this review, a practical and evidence-based approach to the management of preterm babies with respiratory distress, right from the delivery to the period when the respiratory distress gets resolved, is discussed

**Keywords:** *Prematurity, Respiratory distress, Surfactant, Ventilation.* 

- \* Consultant Neonatologist, Mediclinic Al Jowhara Hospital, Al Ain, United Arab Emirates (UAE). email: addensri@yahoo.com
- \*\* Consultant Pediatrician, Mediclinic Parkview Hospital, Dubai, United Arab Emirates (UAE).

### **Points to Remember**

- Respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) is a continuously evolving problem-and though the guidelines are important, an individualized care plan that is constantly reviewed based on the immediate clinical picture is essential to ensure optimal care. Early surfactant therapy will improve outcomes in preterm babies with RDS who need this treatment.
- In babies who need surfactant therapy, the option to use the less invasive surfactant delivery methods, using LISA or INSURE is evaluated.
- All units should strive for a standardized evidencebased approach to care for preterm babies, including the golden hour approach, IVH prevention, RDS management and infection prevention.

- 1. Watkins PL, Dagle JM, Bell EF, Colaizy TT. Outcomes at 18 to 22 months of corrected age for infants born at 22 to 25 weeks of gestation in a center practicing active management. J Pediatr 2020;217:52-58.
- 2. Sweet DG, Carnielli VP, Greisen G, Hallman M, Klebermass-Schrehof K, Ozek E, et al. European Consensus Guidelines on the Management of Respiratory Distress Syndrome: 2022 Update. Neonatology 2023; 120(1):3-23.
- 3. Roberts D, Brown J, Medley N, Dalziel SR. Antenatal corticosteroids for accelerating fetal lung maturation for women at risk of preterm birth. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017; 3(3): CD004454.
- 4. Ninan K, Liyanage SK, Murphy KE, Asztalos EV, McDonald SD. Evaluation of long-term outcomes associated with preterm exposure to antenatal corticosteroids: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr 2022; 176(6):e220483.
- Fogarty M, Osborn DA, Askie L, Seidler AL, Hunter K, Lui K, et al. Delayed vs early umbilical cord clamping for preterm infants: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2018; 218(1):1-18.
- Madar J, Roehr CC, Ainsworth S, Ersdal H, Morley C, Rüdiger M, et al. European Resuscitation Council Guidelines 2021: newborn resuscitation and support of transition of infants at birth. Resuscitation. 2021; 161: 291-326.

- 7. Saugstad OD, Kapadia V, Oei JL. Oxygen in the first minutes of life in very preterm infants. Neonatology. 2021; 118(2):218-224.
- 8. Croop SEW, Thoyre SM, Aliaga S, McCaffrey MJ, Peter Wohl S, et al. The Golden Hour: a quality improvement initiative for extremely premature infants in the neonatal intensive care unit. J Perinatol 2020; 40: 530-539.
- 9. Chiriboga N, Cortez J, Pena-ArietA, Makker K, Smotherman C, Gautam S, et al. Successful implementation of an intracranial hemorrhage (ICH) bundle in reducing severe ICH: a quality improvement project. J Perinatol 2019; 39(1): 143-151.
- Stevens TP, Harrington EW, Blennow M, Soll RF. Early surfactant administration with brief ventilation versus selective surfactant and continued mechanical ventilation for preterm infants with or at risk for respiratory distress syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2007(4): CD003063.
- 11. Wright CJ, Glaser K, Speer CP, Härtel C, Roehr CC. Noninvasive ventilation and exogenous surfactant in times of ever-decreasing gestational age: how do we make the most of these tools? J Pediatr 2022; 247:138-146.
- 12. Shashidhar A, Rao SP, Joe J. Downes Score vs Silverman Anderson Score for Assessment of Respiratory Distress in Preterm Newborns. PediatrOncall J 2016;13: 66-68.
- 13. Capasso L, Pacella D, Migliaro F, De Luca D, Raimondi F. Can lung ultrasound score accurately predict the need for surfactant replacement in preterm neonates? A systematic review and meta-analysis protocol. PLoS One 2021; 28-16(7): e0255332.

- 14. Herting E, Härtel C, Göpel W. Less invasive surfactant administration: best practices and unanswered questions. CurrOpinPediatr 2020; 32(2):228-234.
- 15. Reynolds P, Bustani P, Darby C, Fernandez Alvarez JR, Fox G, Jones S, et al. Less-invasive surfactant administration for neonatal respiratory distress syndrome: a consensus guideline. Neonatology 2021;118(5):586-92.
- Moschino L, Ramaswamy VV, Reiss IKM, Baraldi E, Roehr CC, Simons SHP. Sedation for less invasive surfactant administration in preterm infants: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Pediatric Research 2023; 93(3): 471-491.
- 17. Lemyre B, Dunn M, Thebaud B. Postnatal corticosteroids to prevent or treat bronchopulmonary dysplasia in preterm infants. Paediatr Child Health 2020; 25:322-331.
- 18. Martin RJ, Wang K, Köroðlu O, Di Fiore J, Kc P. Intermittent hypoxic episodes in preterm infants: Do they matter? Neonatology 2011; 100(3):303-310.
- Mitra S, Florez ID, Tamayo ME, Mbuagbaw L, Vanniyasingam T, Veroniki AA, et al. Association of placebo, indomethacin, ibuprofen and acetaminophen with closure of hemodynamically significant patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants: a systematic review and metaanalysis. JAMA2018; 319(12):1221-1238.
- 20. Rozé JC, Cambonie G, Marchand-Martin L, Gournay V, Durrmeyer X, Durox M, et al. Association between early screening for patent ductus arteriosus and in-hospital mortality among extremely preterm infants. JAMA 2015; 313(24):2441-2448.

### RESPIRATORY DISTRESS IN TERM NEONATES - AN APPROACH

### \* Sindhu Sivanandan

**Abstract:** Respiratory distress in a neonate manifests as tachypnea, chest retractions or grunting. In a term neonate the etiology of respiratory distress is more varied and includes transient tachypnea of newborn, respiratory distress syndrome due to surfactant deficiency, meconium aspiration syndrome, pneumonia, air-leak syndrome and congenital malformations. Early recognition of respiratory distress and prompt initiation of appropriate treatment improves outcomes.

**Keywords:** Respiratory distress, Term neonate, Meconium aspiration syndrome.

### **Points to Remember**

- The major signs of neonatal respiratory distress are tachypnea, chest retractions and grunting whereas cyanosis is a late sign.
- The common causes of RD in a term neonate are transient tachypnea, meconium aspiration syndrome, pneumonia, air-leak syndrome and rarely surfactant deficiency.
- Cardiac causes must be ruled out in any neonate presenting with respiratory distress.
- Management involves supportive care, maintaining oxygen saturation targets through optimal respiratory support.

- 1. Kumar A, Bhat BV. Epidemiology of respiratory distress of newborns. Indian J Pediatr1996; 63(1):93-98.
- 2. South East Asia Regional Neontal Perinatal Database. www.newbornwhocc.org/pdf/nnpd\_report\_2002-03.PDF.
- 3. Aly H. Respiratory disorders in the newborn: identification and diagnosis. Pediatr Rev. 2004; 25(6):201-208.
- 4. Silverman WA, Andersen DH. A controlled clinical trial of effects of water mist on obstructive respiratory signs, death rate and necropsy findings among premature infants. Pediatrics.1956;17(1):1-10.
- Downes JJ, Vidyasagar D, Boggs TR Jr., Morrow GMIII. Respiratory distress syndrome of newborn infants. I. New clinical scoring system (RDS score) with acid-base and blood-gas correlations. Clin Pediatr. 1970; 9(6):325-331.
- Kostekci YE, Okulu E, Akin DG, Erdeve O, Atasay B, Arsan S. Oxygen Saturation Index to Predict Surfactant Requirement in Preterm Infants. Indian J Pediatr. 2022; 89(12):1262.
- 7. Bruschettini M, Hassan KO, Romantsik O, Banzi R, Calevo MG, Moresco L. Interventions for the management of transient tachypnoea of the newborn an overview of systematic reviews. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2022; 2(2):CD013563.
- 8. Monfredini C, Cavallin F, Villani PE, Paterlini G, Allais B, Trevisanuto D. Meconium Aspiration Syndrome: A Narrative Review. Children (Basel). 2022; 8(3):230.
- Whitfield JM, Charsha DS, Chiruvolu A. Prevention of meconium aspiration syndrome: an update and the Baylor experience. Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent). 2009; 22(2): 128-31.
- 10. Hooven TA, Polin RA. Pneumonia. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2017; 22(4):206-213.

### PNEUMONIA - MANAGEMENT UPDATE

### \* Kamal Kumar Singhal \*\* Megha Goyal

Abstract: Pneumonia kills more children under the age of five years than any other disease. It is defined as infection of lung parenchyma and viruses are the most common infective cause. World Health Organization has revised the classification and treatment of childhood pneumonia at health facilities with the objective of providing appropriate treatment to more children. These revised guidelines will simplify the management of pneumonia at first level health facility and outpatient department and achieve better treatment outcomes. Oral amoxicillin is recommended as the first-line treatment for the treatment of both fast breathing pneumonia and chest in drawing pneumonia.

**Keywords:** Pneumonia, World Health Organization, Amoxicillin.

- \* Professor, email: drkksinghal@gmail.com
- \*\* Senior Resident,
   Department of Pediatrics,
   LHMC and Kalawati Saran Children's Hospital,
   New Delhi.

### **Points to Remember**

- Pneumonia is the leading infectious cause of mortality in children aged less than 5 years globally.
- Tachypnea is the most sensitive and consistent clinical sign of pneumonia.
- Pneumonia is a clinical diagnosis in stable children who are being managed in outpatient settings and investigations are required only in sick children requiring admission.
- As per the WHO revised classification, the respiratory symptoms of children 2 to 59 months of age are classified into three categories instead of four.
- Oral amoxicillin replaces oral co-trimoxazole as first-line treatment of pneumonia.

- 1. Pneumonia [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 16]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/pneumonia. Accessed on February 2023.
- 2. McAllister DA, Liu L, Shi T. Global, regional and national estimates of pneumonia morbidity and mortality in children younger than 5 years between 2000 and 2015: a systematic analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2019;7:e47-e57.
- 3. Mehta PN. Choosing antibiotics for community acquired pneumonia. Indian Pediatr 2003; 40: 958-964.
- 4. Vijayasekaran D. Lower respiratory tract infection. In: Choudhury P, Bagga A, Chugh K, Ramji S, Gupta P, editors. Principles of pediatric and neonatal emergencies. 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. New Delhi: Jaypee brothers medical publishers (P) ltd; 2011; pp 117-122.
- Kelly MS, Sandora TJ. Community-Acquired Pneumonia.
   In: Kliegman RM, Stanton BF, St Geme JW, Schor NF, Behrman RE, editors. Nelson textbook of pediatrics.
   20<sup>th</sup> ed. Phialdelphia, PA: Elsevier; 2016; pp2088-2094.
- Scotta MC, Marostica PJ, Stein RT. Pneumonia in children. In: Wilmott R, Bush A, Deterding R, Ratjen F, Sly P, Zar H, Li A, editors. Kendig's Disorders of the Respiratory Tract in Children. 9th ed. Elsevier; 2018; pp427-438.
- 7. Gothankar J, Doke P, Dhumale G, Pore P, Lalwani S, Quraishi S, et al. Reported incidence and risk factors of childhood pneumonia in India: a community-based cross-

- sectional study. BMC Public Health. 2018 Sep 11; 18(1):1111. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5996-2. PMID: 30200933; PMCID: PMC6131850.
- 8. Management of acute respiratory infections, National Child Survival and Safe Motherhood Programme Integrated Clinical Skills Course for Physicians. MCH Division, Department of Family Welfare, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Government of India, 2000; pp1-22.
- 9. World Health Organization: Global medium term programme 13.7. Acute Respiratory Infections Document TRI/ARI/MTP/831.WHO, 1983
- 10. Chart booklet: Integrated Management of Childhood Illness (IMCI). Geneva, World Health Organization/ The United Nation Children's Fund (UNICEF), 2008.
- 11. Smyth A, Carty H, Hart CA. Clinical predictors of hypoxaemia in children with pneumonia. Ann Trop Paediatr. 1998 Mar; 18(1):31-40.
- 12. Palafox M, Guiscafré H, Reyes H, Munoz O, Martínez H. Diagnostic value of tachypnoea in pneumonia defined radiologically. Arch Dis Child. 2000 Jan; 82(1):41-5.
- 13. Hazir T, Nisar YB, Qazi SA, Khan SF, Raza M, Zameer S, et al. Chest radiography in children aged 2-59 months diagnosed with non-severe pneumonia as defined by World Health Organization: descriptive multicentre study in Pakistan. BMJ. 2006 Sep 23; 333(7569):629.
- 14. Harris M, Clark J, Coote N, Fletcher P, Harnden A, McKean M, et al. British Thoracic Society guidelines for the management of community acquired pneumonia in children: update 2011. Thorax. 2011; 66 Suppl2: ii1-23.
- 15. Integrated Management of Childhood Illness (IMCI). WHO recommendations on the management of diarrhoea and pneumonia in HIV-infected infants and children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (http://www.who.int/maternal\_child\_adolescent/documents/9789241548083/en).

- Recommendations for management of common childhood conditions, Evidence for technical update of pocket book recommendations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (http://www. who.int/maternal\_child\_adolescent/ documents/management\_childhood\_conditions/en).
- 17. Pocket book of hospital care for children: Guidelines for the management of common illnesses. Second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 Available at: http://www.who.int/maternal\_child\_adolescent/documents/child\_hospital\_care/en.
- 18. Integrated Management of Childhood Illness (IMCI) (revised). Geneva, World Health Organization/ The United Nation Children's Fund (UNICEF), 2014 Available at:http://www.who.int/maternal\_child\_ adolescent/documents/ IMCI\_chartbooklet/en/.
- Rudan I, Boschi-Pinto C, Biloglav Z, Mulholland K, Campbell H. Epidemiology and etiology of childhood pneumonia. Bull World Health Organ. 2008 May;86(5): 408-16. doi: 10.2471/blt.07.048769. PMID: 18545744; PMCID: PMC264743.
- Revised WHO classification and treatment of childhood pneumonia at health facilities [Internet]. [cited 2022 Sep 22]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publicationsdetail-redirect/9789241507813
- 21. Goldberg S, Heitner S, Mimouni F, Joseph L, Bromiker R, Picard E. The influence of reducing fever on blood oxygen saturation in children. Eur J Pediatr. 2018 Jan;177(1):95-9.
- 22. Awasthi S, Agarwal G, Kabra SK, Singhi S, Kulkarni M, More V, et al. Does 3-day course of oral amoxycillin benefit children of non-severe pneumonia with wheeze: A multicentric randomised controlled trial. PLoS One. 2008 Apr 23;3(4):e1991. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0001991. PMID: 18431478; PMCID: PMC2292255.

### **ASTHMA - CURRENT GUIDELINES**

### \* Pallab Chatterjee

Abstract: Asthma is a common disease condition in children that leads to significant morbidity. The understanding of the disease has changed from a single disease to an umbrella term covering a group of diseases with similar symptoms as a result of different etiologies, phenotypes and endotypes. There is now a sea change in the initial management, which emphasizes on confirming the diagnosis before starting controller medications, avoidance of short-acting beta2 agonists alone and to use single maintenance and reliever therapy (SMART) in adolescents and adults. Add-on therapies like tiotropium and biological monoclonal antibodies have been approved for use in some children with severe asthma.

**Keywords:** Asthma, Phenotypes, Short-acting beta2 agonists, Tiotropium.

email: pallabchatterjee@gmail.com

### **Points to Remember**

- Asthma is diagnosed by typical history with characteristic symptoms and evidence of variable expiratory airflow limitation obtained from bronchodilator reversibility testing or other tests.
- Risk factors for exacerbations may be modifiable and non-modifiable and an important modifiable risk factor is having uncontrolled asthma symptoms.
- The preferred step 1 treatment is low-dose ICS taken whenever SABA is taken, and SMART (single maintenance and reliever therapy) is suggested for step 3 and step 4 in children as per GINA 2022 guidelines.
- The children with severe asthma should be evaluated for the clinical or inflammatory phenotype to decide on add-on therapy.
- Primary prevention strategies include encouraging vaginal delivery where possible, avoidance of exposure to environmental tobacco smoke during pregnancy and after birth, and it also includes avoiding the use of paracetamol and broad-spectrum antibiotics during the first year of life.

- 1. 2022 GINA Main Report. Global Initiative for Asthma-GINA. 2022. Available at: https://ginasthma.org/gina-reports/. Accessed on 20 April 2022.
- 2. Nicole Beydon, Monika Gupta Reversibility and bronchial provocation testing in Ernst Eber, Fabio Midulla 2ed. ERS handbook Pediatric Respiratory Medicine. European Respiratory Society, 2021; pp 104-112.
- 3. Jat KR, Gupta A. Recent Advances in Long-Term Management of Asthma. Indian J Pediatr 2022; 89(4):378-386.
- 4. Martinez FD, Chinchilli VM, Morgan WJ, Boehmer SJ, Lemanske RF, Mauger DT, et al. Use of beclomethasone dipropionate as rescue treatment for children with mild persistent asthma (TREXA): A randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2011; 377:650-7.

 <sup>\*</sup> European Diplomate in Pediatric Pulmonology, Apollo Multispeciality Hospital,
 Manipal Hospital, Fortis Hospital,
 Kolkata.

- Sumino K, Bacharier LB, Taylor J, Chadwick-Mansker K, Curtis V, Nash A, et al. A pragmatic trial of symptom based inhaled corticosteroid use in African-American children with mild asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2020; 8:176-85.
- Cloutier MM, Dixon AE, Krishnan JA, Lemanske RF, Pace W, Schatz M. Managing Asthma in Adolescents and Adults 2020 Asthma Guideline Update From the National Asthma Education and Prevention Program JAMA. 2020; 324(22):2301-2317.
- 7. Cloutier MM, Teach SJ, Lemanske RF, Blake KV. The 2020 Focused Updates to the NIH Asthma Management Guidelines: Key Points for Pediatricians. Pediatrics. 2021; 147(6):e2021050286.
- 8. Kuruvilla ME, Lee FE-H, Lee GB. Understanding asthma Phenotypes, endotypes, and mechanisms of disease. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2019; 56:219-33.
- 9. Scotney E, Burchett S, Goddard T, Saglani S. Pediatric problematic severe asthma: Recent advances in management. Pediatr Allergy Immunol. 2021; 32:1405 1415.

### **BRONCHIOLITIS - RECENT UPDATE**

### \* Hema Gupta Mittal \* Sonia Bhatt

Abstract: Bronchiolitis is a common respiratory illness in infants which contributes considerably to hospitalization There are many variations in practice in diagnosing, monitoring and managing bronchiolitis. The focus of this review is on updates on various diagnostic and treatment recommendations which will be helpful to practicing pediatricians. Bronchiolitis is a clinical diagnosis. No recommendation exists for routine use of laboratory / radiological investigations. Most guidelines recommend fluid management and oxygen and supportive care as mainstay of treatment. Evidence suggests no benefit with the use of salbutamol, glucocorticoids and antibiotics. Parental education and counselling remain essential.

**Keywords:** Bronchiolitis, Hypertonic saline, Steroids, Adrenaline, Oxygen therapy, Heated humidified high flow nasal cannula.

- Professor and In-Charge,
   Division of Pediatric Pulmonology,
   Department of Pediatrics,
   ABVIMS and RML Hospital,
   New Delhi.
  - email: hema\_g10@hotmail.com
- \*\* Professor and Head, Department of Pediatrics, F H Medical College, Agra.

### **Points to Remember**

- Bronchiolitis is a common condition in infants and children under 2 years of age and diagnosed on the basis of history and clinical examination.
- Respiratory syncytial virus remains the most common cause.
- It may be mildly symptomatic or lead to a severe disease with fulminant course and respiratory failure.
- The mainstay of treatment remains supportive in the form of humidified oxygen therapy, adequate hydration and proper nutrition.
- There is no role of nebulised drugs (salbutamol, adrenaline, steroids, magnesium sulphate), antibiotics, azithromycin, antivirals or chest physiotherapy in routine management.
- In severe bronchiolitis with respiratory failure, HHHFNC and other non invasive respiratory support have been successful in reducing the need for invasive ventilation.
- Preventive strategies includes hand hygiene and immunoprophylaxis in preterm infants.

- Friedman JN, Rieder MJ, Walton JM. Canadian Pediatric Society; Acute Care Committee, Drug Therapy and Hazardous Substances Committee. Bronchiolitis: recommendations for diagnosis, monitoring and management of children 1-24 months of age. Pediatr Child Health 2014; 19:485-91.
- 2. Ralston SL, Lieberthal AS, Meissner HC, Alverson BK, Baley JE, Gadomski AM, et al. Clinical practice guideline: the diagnosis, management, and prevention of bronchiolitis. Pediatrics 2014; 134:e1474-502.
- House SA, Ralston SL. Wheezing, Bronchiolitis and Bronchitis. In:Kliegman RM, Behrman RE, Joseph W, Blum NJ, Shah SS, Tasker RC, Wilson KM, editor. Nelson textbook of Pediatrics 21<sup>st</sup> Ed, Canada, Elsevier, 2020;pp 2217-2220.
- 4. Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. RSV in infants and young children. 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/rsv/highrisk/infants-young-child ren.html. Accessed 21 May 2022.

- Public Health England. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV): Symptoms, transmission, prevention, treatment. 2008. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/respiratory-syncytial-virus-rsv-symptoms-trans mission-prevention-treatment/respiratory-syncytial-virus-rsv-sympt omstransmission-prevention-treatment. Accessed 21 May 2022.
- Shi T, McAllister DA, O'Brien KL, Simoes EAF, Madhi SA, Gessner BD, et al. Global, regional and national disease burden estimates of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children in 2015: a systematic review and modelling study. Lancet. 2017;390(10098):946-58.
- 7. Mazur NI, Martinoìn-Torres F, Baraldi E, Fauroux B, Greenough A, Heik-kinen T, et al. Lower respiratory tract infection caused by respiratory syncytial virus: Current management and new therapeutics. Lancet Respir Med. 2015; 3(11):888-900.
- 8. Mahant S, Parkin PC, Thavam T, Imsirovic H, Tuna M, Knight B, et al. Rates in Bronchiolitis Hospitalization, Intensive Care Unit Use, Mortality and Costs From 2004 to 2018. JAMA Pediatr. 2021; 176(3):270-9.
- 9. Linssen RS, Teirlinck AC, van Boven M, Biarent D, Stona L, Amigoni A, et al. Increasing burden of viral bronchiolitis in the pediatric intensive care unit; An observational study. J Crit Care. 2022; 68:165-8.
- Satav A, Crow R, Potdar V, Dani V, Satav S, Chada M, et al. The Burden of Respiratory Syncytial Virus in Children Under 2 Years of Age in a Rural Community in Maharashtra, India, Clin Infect Dis. 2021;73 (3):S238-S247.
- Meissner HC. Viral Bronchiolitis in Children. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(18):1793-4.
- 12. Goka EA, Vallely PJ, Mutton KJ, Klapper PE. Single and multiple respiratory virus infections and severity of respiratory disease: a systematic review. Pediatr Respir Rev. (2014) 15:363-70.
- Luo G, Stone BL, Nkoy FL, He S, Johnson MD. Predicting Appropriate Hospital Admission of Emergency Department Patients with Bronchiolitis: Secondary Analysis. JMIR Med Inform. 2019 Jan 22; 7(1):e12591. doi: 10.2196/12591. PMID: 30668518; PMCID: PMC6362392.
- Barr R, Green C A, Sande C J, Drysdale S B.Respiratory syncytial virus: diagnosis, prevention and managementTher Adv Infect Dis 2019;6:2049936119865798.doi: 10.1177/ 2049936119865798. PMID: 31384456; PMCID: PMC6664627.
- 15. Manti S, Staiano A, Orfeo L, Midulla F, Marseglia GL, Ghizzi C etal. UPDATE 2022 Italian guidelines on the management of bronchiolitis in infants. Ital J Pediatr. 2023 Feb 10;49(1):19.
- 16. O'Brien S, Borland ML, Cotterell E, Armstrong D, Babl F, Bauert P etyal. Paediatric Research in Emergency

- Departments International Collaborative (PREDICT) Network, Australasia. Australasian bronchiolitis guideline. J Pediatr Child Health. 2019 Jan;55(1):42-53.
- 17. National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health (UK). Bronchiolitis: Diagnosis and Management of Bronchiolitis in Children. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE); 2015 Jun.
- 18. De Rose DU, Maddaloni C, Martini L, Braguglia A, Dotta A, Auriti C. Comparison of three clinical scoring tools for bronchiolitis to predict the need for respiratory support and length of stay in neonates and infants up to three months of age. Front Pediatr. 2023 Feb 17;11: 1040354.
- 19. Baraldi E, Lanari M, Manzoni P, Rossi GA, Vandini S, Rimini A, et al. Inter-society consensus document on treatment and prevention of bronchiolitis in newborns and infants. Ital J Pediatr. 2014; 24(40):65.
- 20. Ralston SL, Lieberthal AS, Meissner HC, Alverson BK, Baley JE, Gadomski AM, et al. Clinical practice guideline: the diagnosis, management and prevention of bronchiolitis. Pediatrics. 2014; 134(5):e1474-502.
- 21. Wang G, Han D, Jiang Z, Li M, Yang S, Liu L. Association between early bronchiolitis and the development of childhood asthma: a meta-analysis. BMJ Open. 2021 May 28; 11(5):e043956.
- 22. Biagi C, Rocca A, Poletti G, Fabi M, Lanari M. Rhinovirus Infection in Children with Acute Bronchiolitis and Its Impact on Recurrent Wheezing and Asthma Development. Microorganisms. 2020 Oct 21; 8(10):1620.
- 23. Bylsma LC, Suh M, Movva N, Fryzek JP, Nelson CB. Mortality Among US Infants and Children Under 5 Years of Age with Respiratory Syncytial Virus and Bronchiolitis: A Systematic Literature Review. J Infect Dis. 2022 Aug 15;226(Suppl 2):S267-S281.
- Liu D, Liu J, Zhang L, Chen Y, Zhang Q. Risk Factors for Post-infectious Bronchiolitis Obliterans in Children: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front Pediatr. 2022 Jun 9; 10:881908.doi: 10.3389/fped.2022.881908. PMID: 35757133; PMCID: PMC9218415.
- 25. Bronchiolitis in children: diagnosis and management, NICE guideline Published: 1 June 2015, www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng9, Last updated 9 August 2021.
- 26. Silver AH, Nazif JM. Bronchiolitis. Pediatr Rev. 2019 Nov; 40(11):568-576. doi: 10.1542/pir.2018-0260. PMID: 31676530.
- 27. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE).Bronchiolitis in children: diagnosis and management. London: 2021; Aug 9. PMID: 34464037.
- 28. Harris M., Clark J, Coote N, Fletcher P, Harnden A, McKean M, et al and British Thoracic Society Standards of Care Committee (2011) British Thoracic Society Guidelines for the Management of Community Acquired Pneumonia in Children: Update 2011. Thorax, 66, ii1-ii23. https://doi.org/10.1136/thoraxjnl-2011-200598.

- Chao JH, Lin RC, Marneni S, Pandya S, Alhajri S, Sinert R. Predictors of Airspace Disease on Chest X-ray in Emergency Department Patients With Clinical Bronchiolitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Acad Emerg Med. 2016 Oct; 23(10):1107-1118.
- 30. Di Mauro A, Ammirabile A, Quercia M, Panza R, Capozza M, Manzionna MM,et al . Acute Bronchiolitis: Is There a Role for Lung Ultrasound? Diagnostics (Basel). 2019 Nov 1; 9(4):172.
- 31. Supino MC, Buonsenso D, Scateni S, Scialanga B, Mesturino MA, Bock C, et al. Point-of-care lung ultrasound in infants with bronchiolitis in the pediatric emergency department: a prospective study. Eur J Pediatr. 2019; 178(5):623-32.
- 32. Angurana SK, Williams V, Takia L. Acute Viral Bronchiolitis: A Narrative Review. J Pediatr Intensive Care. 2020 Sep 2; 12(2):79-86.
- 33. Elkhunovich MA, Wang VJ. Assessing the utility of urine testing in febrile infants aged 2 to 12 months with bronchiolitis. Pediatr Emerg Care. 2015;31(09):616-620.
- 34. Baraldi E, Lanari M, Manzoni P, Rossi GA, Vandini S, Rimini A, et al. Inter-society consensus document on treatment and prevention of bronchiolitis in newborns and infants. Ital J Pediatr. 2014; 24(40):65.
- 35. Ralston SL, Lieberthal AS, Meissner HC, Alverson BK, Baley JE, Gadomski AM, et al. Clinical practice guideline: the diagnosis, management and prevention of bronchiolitis. Pediatrics. 2014; 134(5):e1474-502.
- Japanese Society for Pediatric Infectious Diseases Pediatric respiratory infection clinical practice guidelines, 201. http://www.jspid.jp/pub/sguideline.html. Last Access 1 Sept 2022.
- 37. O'Brien S, Borland ML, Cotterell E, Armstrong D, Babl F, Bauert P, et al. Australasian bronchiolitis guideline. J Paediatr Child Health. 2019; 55:42-53.
- 38. Chen DY, Zee ED, Gildengorin G, Fong EW. A pilot study of heated and humidified low flow oxygen therapy: An assessment in infants with mild and moderate bronchiolitis (HHOT AIR study). Pediatr Pulmonol. 2019; 54(5):620-7.
- Jat KR, Dsouza JM, Mathew JL. Continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) for acute bronchiolitis in children. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2022 Apr 4; 4(4):CD010473.
- 40. Papoff P, Caresta E, Luciani S, Pierangeli A, Scagnolari C, Giannini L, et al. The starting rate for highflow nasal cannula oxygen therapy in infants with bronchiolitis: Is clinical judgment enough? Pediatr Pulmonol. 2021; 56(8):2611-20.
- 41. Elliott SA, Gaudet LA, Fernandes RM, Vandermeer B, Freed-man SB, Johnson DW, et al. Comparative Efficacy of Bronchiolitis Interventions in Acute Care: A Network Meta-analysis. Pediatrics. 2021; 147(5):e2020040816.

- 42. Zomer-Kooijker K, van der Ent CK, Ermers MJ, Rovers MM, Bont LJ, RSV Corticosteroid Study Group. Lack of long-term effects of high-dose inhaled beclomethasone for respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2014;33(1):19-23.
- 43. Fernandes RM, Oleszczuk M, Woods CR, Rowe BH, Cates CJ, Hartling L. The Cochrane Library and safety of systemic corticosteroids for acute respiratory conditions in children: an overview of reviews. Evid Based Child Health. 2014;9(3):733-47.
- 44. Zhang L, Mendoza-Sassi RA, Wainwright CE, Aregbesola A, Klassen TP. Nebulised hypertonic saline solution for acute bronchiolitis in infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2023 Apr 4;4(4):CD006458.
- 45. Everard ML, Hind D, Ugonna K, Freeman J, Bradburn M, Dixon S, et al. Saline in acute bronchiolitis RCT and economic evaluation: hypertonic saline in acute bronchiolitis randomised controlled trial and systematic review. Health Technol Assess. 2015 Aug;19(66):1-130.
- 46. Che SY, He H, Deng Y, Liu EM. Clinical effect of azithromycin adjuvant therapy in children with bronchiolitis: a systematic review and Meta-analysis. Zhongguo Dang Dai Er Ke Za Zhi. 2019 Aug; 21(8):812-819.
- 47. Zhang Y, Dai J, Jian H, Lin J. Effects of macrolides on airway microbiome and cytokine of children with bronchiolitis: A systematic review and meta- analysis of randomized controlled trials. Microbiol Immunol. 2019 Sep; 63(9):343-349.
- 48. Frassanito A, Nenna R, Arima S, Petrarca L, Pierangeli A, Scagnolari C, et al. Modifiable environmental factors predispose term infants to bronchiolitis but bronchiolitis itself predisposes to respiratory sequelae. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2022; 57(3):640-7.
- 49. Lanari M, Prinelli F, Adorni F, Di Santo S, Faldella G, Silvestri M, et al. Maternal milk protects infants against bronchiolitis during the firstyear of life. Results from an Italian cohort of newborns. Early Hum Dev. 2013; 89 (Suppl 1):S51-7.
- 50. The IMpact-RSV Study Group. Palivizumab, a humanized respiratory syncytial virus monoclonal antibody, reduces hospitalization from respiratory syncytial virus infection in high-risk infants. Pediatrics. 1998;102(3 Pt 1):531-7.
- 51. Griffin MP, Yuan Y, Takas T, Domachowske JB, Madhi SA, Manzoni P, et al. Single-Dose Nirsevimab for Prevention of RSV in Preterm Infants. New Engl J Med. 2020;383(5):415-25.

### MANAGEMENT OF CHILDHOOD TUBERCULOSIS

### \* Kalpana S

Abstract: The National Strategic Plan 2017-2025 has set an ambitious target of elimination of tuberculosis by 2025. In India, an estimated 3.33 lakh children in the 0-14 years' age group become ill with tuberculosis each year which contributes to 28% of global childhood tuberculosis burden. Improving the diagnostic and treatment strategies in children will contribute in a major way in controlling this menace. Investigations for the diagnosis includeboth radiological and microbiological. Treatment includes preventive strategies, treatment of drug sensitive and drug resistant tuberculosis.

**Keywords:** Cartridge based nucleic acid amplification test, Treatment regimen, Preventive therapy.

\* Associate Professor of Pediatrics,

Vellore, Tamil Nadu.

email: drskalpana@yahoo.co.in

Govt. Vellore Medical College,

### **Points to Remember**

- Nucleic acid amplification tests CBNAAT and Truenat have improved case diagnosis of tuberculosis.
- Radiology, inspite of modest specificity still remains an important part of the armamentarium.
- Point of care test like urine LAM have been approved in children with HIV.
- Shorter treatment regimens have been proposed by WHO in non severe TB, adolescents and TB meningitis.

- Pediatric TB Management Guideline 2022. National Tuberculosis Elimination Programme Central TB Division, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, New Delhi. Available at: https://tbcindia.gov.in/showfile.php? lid=3668. Accessed on 12.12.2022
- WHO. Rapid communication on systematic screening for tuberculosis. Available at: https://www.who.int/ publications/i/item/9789240016552. Accessed on 12.12.2022
- Ruiz Jiménez M, Guillén Martín S, Prieto Tato LM, Cacho Calvo JB, García AA, Sánchez BS, et al. Induced sputum versus gastric lavage for the diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis in children. BMC Infect Dis. 2013; 13: 222.
- World Health Organization. WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis Module 5. Management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents. 2022. World Health Organization. Available at: https://www.who.int/ publications/i/item/9789240046764. Accessed on 13.12.2022.
- Kay AW, González Fernández L, Takwoingi Y, Eisenhut M, Detjen AK, Steingart KR, et al. Xpert MTB/ RIF and Xpert MTB/RIF Ultra assays for active tuberculosis and rifampicin resistance in children. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2020 Aug 27.8(8): CD013359.
- Antel K, Oosthuizen J, Malherbe F, Louw VJ, Nicol MP, Maartens G, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of the Xpert MTB/ Rif Ultra for tuberculosis adenitis. BMC Infect Dis 20, 33 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-019-4749-x.

### PROTRACTED BACTERIAL BRONCHITIS

### \* Sarath Balaji B

Abstract: Protracted bacterial bronchitis is not an uncommon cause to consider in a child with chronic (>4weeks) wet cough without constitutional symptoms and specific cough pointers. It is increasingly being recognised across the globe after introduction of diagnostic clinical criteria. It is a forerunner of bronchiectasis and needs to be treated with appropriate antibiotics for adequate (2-4 weeks) duration. But in countries like India, common causes such as tuberculosis and foreign body should be ruled out before considering the possibility of PBB.

**Keywords:** Protracted bacterial bronchitis, Chronic cough.

\* Associate Professor of Pediatrics,
Department of Pulmonology,
Institute of Child Health and Hospital for Children,
Chennai.

email: sarath1731@gmail.com

### **Points to Remember**

- PBB is increasingly being recognised globally as a common cause of chronic wet cough in healthy under five children.
- PBB should be suspected in all healthy children who develop persistent wet cough of more than 4 weeks duration with normal physical examination and imaging.
- This condition responds promptly to a course of amoxycillin-clavulanic acid given for 2-4 weeks.
- Other conditions like foreign body airway and tuberculosis should be ruled out.

- 1. Bergamini M, Kantar A, Cutrera R, Interest Group IPC. Analysis of the Literature on Chronic Cough in Children. Open Respir Med J2017;11:1-9.
- 2. Waring G, Kirk S, Fallon D. The impact of chronic nonspecific cough on children and their families: A narrative literature review. J Child Health Care 2019; 24:143-60.
- 3. Chang AB, Glomb WB. Guidelines for evaluating chronic cough in pediatrics: ACCP evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2006; 129: Suppl. 1, 260S-283S.
- Chang AB, Landau LI, Van Asperen PP, Glasgow NJ, Robertson CF, Marchant JM, et al. Cough in children: definitions and clinical evaluation. Med J Australia. 2006 Apr; 184(8):398-403.
- 5. Kantar A, Chang AB, Shields MD, Marchant JM, Grimwood K, Grigg J, et al. ERS statement on protracted bacterial bronchitis in children. Eur Respir J 2017; 50:1602139.
- Wurzel DF, Marchant JM, Yerkovich ST, Upham JW, Petsky HL, Smith-Vaughan H,et al. Protracted Bacterial Bronchitis in Children: Natural History and Risk Factors for Bronchiectasis. Chest 2016; 150:1101 - 1108.
- 7. Di Filippo P, Scaparrotta A, Petrosino MI, Attanasi M, Di Pillo S, Chiarelli F, et al. An underestimated cause of chronic cough: The protracted bacterial bronchitis. Ann Thorac Med 2018; 13:7-13.

- Gallucci M, Pedretti M, Giannetti A, di Palmo E, Bertelli L, Pession A, et al. When the Cough Does Not Improve: A Review on Protracted Bacterial Bronchitis in Children. FrontPediatr 2020;8:433. doi: 10.3389/ fped.2020.00433. PMID: 32850546; PMCID: PMC7426454.
- Øymar K, Mikalsen IB, Crowley S. Protracted bacterial bronchitis in children. Tidsskrift for Den Norske Legeforening 2017. https://doi.org/10.4045/tidsskr. 16.0843.
- Ishak A, Everard ML. Persistent and Recurrent Bacterial Bronchitis-A Paradigm Shift in Our Understanding of Chronic Respiratory Disease. Front Pediatr 2017; 5: 19.
- 11. Wurzel DF, Marchant JM, Clark JE, Masters IB, Yerkovich ST, Upham JW, et al. Wet cough in children: infective and inflammatory characteristics in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid. Pediatr Pulmonol 2014; 49: 561 8.
- 12. Donnelly D, Critchlow A, Everard ML. Outcomes in children treated for persistent bacterial bronchitis. Thorax 2007;62:80-4.
- 13. Kompare M, Weinberger M. Protracted Bacterial Bronchitis in Young Children: Association with Airway Malacia. J Pediatr 2012;160:88-92.
- 14. Fahy JV, Dickey BF. Airway mucus function and dysfunction. N Eng J Med 2010; 363:2233-47.
- Marchant JM, Gibson PG, Grissell TV, Timmins NL, Masters IB, Chang AB. Prospective assessment of protracted bacterial bronchitis: Airway inflammation and innate immune activation. Pediatr Pulmonol 2008; 43:1092-9.
- Narang R, Bakewell K, Peach J, Clayton S, Samuels M, Alexander J, et al. (2014) Bacterial Distribution in the Lungs of Children with Protracted Bacterial Bronchitis. PLoS ONE 9(9): e108523.10.1371/journal.pone.0108523. PMID: 25259619; PMCID: PMC4178164.
- 17. Zhang X, Wu X, Nong G. Update on protracted bacterial bronchitis in children. ItalJPediatr2020 Mar 30;46(1):38. doi: 10.1186/s13052-020-0802-z. PMID: 32228653; PMCID: PMC7106696.
- 18. Wang Y, Hao C, Ji W, Lu Y, Wu M, Chen S, et al. Detecting respiratory viruses in children with protracted bacterial bronchitis. Respir Med. 2019;151:55–8.
- Chang AB, Upham JW, Masters IB, Redding GR, Gibson PG, Marchant JM, et al. Protracted bacterial bronchitis: The last decade and the road ahead. Pediatr Pulmonol 2016; 51: 225-42.

- 20. Wurzel DF, Marchant JM, Yerkovich ST, Upham JW, Mackay IM, Masters IB, et al. Prospective characterization of protracted bacterial bronchitis in children. Chest 2014; 145:12718.
- 21. Chattoraj SS, Ganesan S, Jones AM, Helm JM, Comstock AT, Bright Thomas R, et al. Rhinovirus infection liberates planktonic bacteria from biofilm and increases chemokine responses in cystic fibrosis airway epithelial cells. Thorax 2011; 66:3339.
- 22. Saglani S, Nicholson AG, Scallan M,Balfour-Lynn I, Rosenthal M, Payne DN, et al Investigation of young children with severe recurrent wheeze: any clinical benefit? EurRespir J 2006; 27(1): 29-35.
- 23. Paul SP, Hilliard T. The importance of recognizing protracted bacterial bronchitis in children. Indian J Pediatr 2014;81(1): 1-3.
- 24. Craven V, Everard ML. Protracted bacterial bronchitis: Reinventing an old disease. Arch Dis Child 2013; 98:726. Ruffles TJC, Marchant JM, Masters IB, Yerkovich ST, Wurzel DF, Gibson PG, et al. Outcomes of protracted bacterial bronchitis in children: A 5year prospective cohort study. Respirology 2020; 26:241-8.
- 25. Chang AB, Redding GJ, Everard ML. Chronic wet cough: protracted bronchitis, chronic suppurative lung disease and bronchiectasis. Pediatr Pulmonol 2008; 43:519-31.
- 26. Bidiwala A, Krilov LR, Pirzada M et al. Pro-Con Debate: Protracted Bacterial Bronchitis as a Cause of chronic Cough in Children. Pediatr Ann 2015; 44:329-36.
- 27. Shields MD, Bush A, Everard ML, et al (2008) BTS guidelines: Recommendations for the assessment and management of cough in children. Thorax. 2014 Mar; 69(3):239.
- 28. Marchant J, Masters IB, Champion A, Petsky H, Chang AB. Randomised controlled trial of amoxycillin clavulanate in children with chronic wet cough. Thorax2012;67(8): 689-93.
- 29. Gross-Hodge E, Carroll WD, Rainford N, Gamble C, Gilchrist FJ. Duration of initial antibiotic course is associated with recurrent relapse in protracted bacterial bronchitis. Arch Dis Child. 2020 Nov;105(11):1111-1113. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2019-317917. Epub 2019 Oct 17. PMID: 31624061.
- Goyal V, Grimwood K, Marchant JM, Masters IB, Chang AB, et al. Does failed chronic wet cough response to antibiotics predict bronchiectasis? Arch Dis Child 2014; 99:522-5.
- 31. CHEST Expert Cough Panel. Management of Children With Chronic Wet Cough and Protracted Bacterial Bronchitis: CHEST Guideline and Expert Panel Report. Chest 2017; 151: 884-90.

### BRONCHIECTASIS - NON CYSTIC FIBROSIS

### \*Rashmi Ranjan Das \*\*Ketan Kumar \*\*\*Krishna Mohan Gulla

Abstract: 'Non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis' is an end stage lung disease characterized by dilatation and thickening of airways secondary to diverse etiologies causing chronic inflammation and recurrent infections. It is a common chronic respiratory morbidity in children. The etiologies are diverse and depend on the geographic region and availability of diagnostic work up of underlying illness. The most common cause is idiopathic followed by post-infectious. The diagnosis should be suspected in children presenting with chronic wet cough of >4 weeks duration. Clinical presentation depends on the severity of illness and underlying cause and Computed Tomograph of chest is the diagnostic modality of choice. Management is mainly medical with surgery reserved for localized disease not responding to medical management.

**Keywords:** Suppurative lung disease, Primary ciliary dyskinesia, Chronic cough, Wet cough, Protracted bacterial bronchitis.

- \* Additional Professor email: rrdas05@gmail.com
- \*\* Assistant Professor
- \*\*\* Associate Professor,
  Division of Pediatric Pulmonology and Intensive Care,
  Department of Pediatrics,
  All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Bhubaneswar.

### **Points to Remember**

- Non-CF bronchiectasis occurs secondary to diverse etiologies except cystic fibrosis.
- Common causes of non-CF bronchiectasis in Indian children are post-infectious, primary cilliary dyskinesia, and allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis.
- The diagnosis should be suspected in children presenting with chronic wet cough of >4 weeks duration.
- Clinical presentation depends on the severity of illness and underlying cause; CT chest is the diagnostic modality of choice.
- Management is mainly medical with surgery reserved for localized disease not responding to medical management.

- 1. Poeta M, Maglione M, Borrelli M, Santamaria F. Non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis in children and adolescents: Neglected and emerging issues. Pediatr Neonatol 2020; 61:255-62.
- Chang AB, Bell SC, Byrnes CA, Dawkins P, Holland AE, Kennedy E, et al. Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand (TSANZ) position statement on chronic suppurative lung disease and bronchiectasis in children, adolescents and adults in Australia and New Zealand. Respirology 2023; 28:339-49.
- 3. Chang AB, Upham JW, Masters IB, Redding GR, Gibson PG, Marchant JM, et al. Protracted bacterial bronchitis: The last decade and the road ahead. Pediatr Pulmonol 2016; 51:225-42.
- Brower KS, Del Vecchio MT, Aronoff SC. The etiologies of non-CF bronchiectasis in childhood: a systematic review of 989 subjects. BMC Pediatr 2014;14:4. doi: 10.1186/ s12887-014-0299-y. PMID: 25492164; PMCID: PMC4275950.
- 5. Gupta AK, Lodha R, Kabra SK. Non Cystic Fibrosis Bronchiectasis. Indian J Pediatr 2015; 82:938-44.
- 6. Twiss J, Metcalfe R, Edwards E, Byrnes C. New Zealand national incidence of bronchiectasis "too high" for a developed country. Arch Dis Child 2005; 90:737-40.

- Chang AB, Bell SC, Torzillo PJ, King PT, Maguire GP, Byrnes CA, et al; extended voting group. Chronic suppurative lung disease and bronchiectasis in children and adults in Australia and New Zealand Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand guidelines. Med J Aust 2015; 202:21-3.
- 8. Chang AB, Redding GJ. Bronchiectasis and chronic suppurative lung disease. In:Kendig's Disorders of the Respiratory Tract in Children, Elsevier., Phildelphia, 2019; pp 439-459.
- 9. Kumar A, Lodha R, Kumar P, Kabra SK. Non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis in children: clinical profile, etiology and outcome. Indian Pediatr 2015; 52:35-7.
- Chang AB, Fortescue R, Grimwood K, Alexopoulou E, Bell L, Boyd J, et al. European Respiratory Society guidelines for the management of children and adolescents with bronchiectasis. Eur Respir J 2021; 58:2002990.doi: 10.1183/13993003.02990-2020. PMID: 33542057.
- 11. Hill AT, Pasteur M, Cornford C, Welham S, Bilton D. Primary care summary of the British Thoracic Society Guideline on the management of non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis. Prim Care Respir J 2011; 20:135-40.
- 12. Kabra SK, Lodha R, Ramesh P, Sarthi M. Fiberoptic bronchoscopy in children an audit from a tertiary care center. Indian Pediatr 2008; 45:917-9.
- Mathew JL, Kumar K, Agrawal S, Bafna S, Bhatt S, Chatterjee P, et al. Evidence-Based Guidelines for the Management of Allergic Bronchopulmonary Aspergillosis (ABPA) in Children and Adolescents with Asthma. Indian J Pediatr 2023; 90:708-17.

### **CYSTIC FIBROSIS**

### \* Priyanka Medhi \*\* Sneha Varkki

**Abstract:** Cystic Fibrosis (CF), an autosomal recessive condition is being increasingly recognised in India. Early diagnosis followed by prompt initiation of treatment is important to minimize malnutrition and to preserve lung functions. With the availability of highly effective modulator therapy, the prognosis of the disease has improved remarkably. Global disparities in access to care need to be addressed.

**Keywords:** Cystic Fibrosis (CF), Cystic fibrosis transmembrane receptor (CFTR) gene, Pancreatic sufficient (PS), Pancreatic insufficient (PI), Highly effective modulator therapy (HEMT).

- \* Assistant Professor,
- \*\* Professor,
  Department of Pediatrics,
  Christian Medical College, Vellore.
  email: snehatitus85@yahoo.com

### **Points to Remember**

- Cystic fibrosis (CF) an autosomal recessive condition exists in India, determination of its precise magnitude is urgently needed considering its implications on childhood mortality.
- Sweat chloride estimation is the gold standard test for diagnosis of CF. Elevated sweat chloride level >60mmol/L or demonstration of the presence of two disease causing variants in the CFTR gene confirms the diagnosis.
- Early initiation of treatment with pancreatic enzyme replacement therapy, good nutrition and airway clearance therapies minimizes malnutrition, improves quality of life and is associated with better lung functions.
- In this era when highly effective modulator therapy (HEMT) has changed the trajectory of disease progression, global disparities in access to care need to be urgently addressed.

- 1. Mandal A, Kabra SK and Lodha R. Cystic Fibrosis in India: Past, Present and Future. Pulm Med Respir Res. 2015 Dec 31; 1(1):1-8.
- 2. Bell SC, Mall MA, Gutierrez H, Macek M, Madge S, Davies JC, et al. Respiratory Medicine Commission on the Future of Care of Cystic Fibrosis. Lancet Respir Med. 2020 Jan; 8(1):65-124.
- Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Patient Registry 2021 Annual Data Report. 2021. Available from: https://www.cff.org/ sites/default/files/2021-11/Patient-Registry-Annual-Data-Report.pdf. Accessed on July 8<sup>th</sup>, 2023.
- Cystic Fibrosis Mutation Database. [cited 2023 Jun 29]. Available from: http://www.genet.sickkids.on.ca/ Accessed on July 8<sup>th</sup>, 2023
- 5. Gibson LE, Cooke RE. A test for concentration of electrolytes in sweat in cystic fibrosis of the pancreas utilizing pilocarpine by iontophoresis. Pediatrics. 1959 Mar; 23(3):545-9.

- 6. Farrell PM, White TB, Ren CL, Hempstead SE, Accurso F, Derichs N, et al. Diagnosis of Cystic Fibrosis: Consensus Guidelines from the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation. J Pediatr. 2017 Feb 1;181:S4-S15.e1.
- 7. Farrell PM, Lai HJ, Li Z, Kosorok MR, Laxova A, Green CG, et al. Evidence on Improved Outcomes with Early Diagnosis of Cystic Fibrosis Through Neonatal Screening: Enough is Enough! J Pediatr. 2005 Sep 1;147(3, Supplement):S30–6.
- Sinclair G, McMahon V, Schellenberg A, Nelson TN, Chilvers M, Vallance H. Performance of a Three-Tier (IRT-DNA-IRT) Cystic Fibrosis Screening Algorithm in British Columbia. Int J Neonatal Screen. 2020 Jun 2;6(2):46.
- Weidler S, Stopsack KH, Hammermann J, Sommerburg O, Mall MA, Hoffmann GF, et al. A product of immunoreactive trypsinogen and pancreatitis-associated protein as second-tier strategy in cystic fibrosis newborn screening. J Cyst Fibros. 2016 Nov;15(6):752-8.
- Singh A, Lodha R, Shastri S, Sethuraman G, Sreedevi KN, Kabra M, et al. Aquagenic Wrinkling of Skin: A Screening Test for Cystic Fibrosis. Indian Pediatr. 2019 Feb;56(2): 109-13.
- Kraemer R, Blum A, Schibler A, Ammann RA, Gallati S. Ventilation Inhomogeneities in Relation to Standard Lung Function in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2005 Feb 15;171(4):371-8.
- 12. Ong T, Ramsey BW. Cystic Fibrosis: A Review. JAMA. 2023 Jun 6;329(21):1859-71.
- 13. Van Stormbroek B, Zampoli M, Morrow BM. Nebulized gentamicin in combination with systemic antibiotics for eradicating early Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2019 Apr; 54(4):393-8.
- 14. Ferkol T, Rosenfeld M, Milla CE. Cystic fibrosis pulmonary exacerbations. J Pediatr. 2006 Feb 1;148(2): 259-64.
- 15. Sankararaman S, Hendrix SJ, Schindler T. Update on the management of vitamins and minerals in cystic fibrosis. Nutr Clin Pract. 2022; 37(5):1074-87.
- Lopes-Pacheco M. CFTR Modulators: The Changing Face of Cystic Fibrosis in the Era of Precision Medicine. Front Pharmacol. 2020 Feb 21; 10:1662.

### PULMONARY MANIFESTATIONS IN PRIMARY IMMUNODEFICIENCY

\* Sagar Bhattad \*\* Neha Singh

Abstract: Primary immunodeficiency diseases are a group of inherited disorders characterized by susceptibility to infections, allergies, autoimmunity and malignancies. These disorders are better known as inborn errors of immunity. While inborn errors of immunity can affect every organ system, the respiratory system is the most commonly afflicted. Sinopulmonary infections cause significant morbidity and mortality, however, the spectrum of sinopulmonary involvement also includes immune dysregulation, bronchiectasis, interstitial lung disease and malignancies. In this article, we discuss the pulmonary manifestations of inborn errors of immunity and provide a diagnostic approach and simplified algorithms to ensure a timely diagnosis in these patients.

**Keywords**: Inborn errors of immunity, Pneumonia, Immune dysregulation.

- \* Consultant email: drsagarbhattad@gmail.com
- \*\* Fellow,
  Division of Pediatric Immunology and Rheumatology,
  Department of Pediatrics,
  Aster CMI Hospital,
  Bengaluru.

### **Points to Remember**

- Respiratory system is the most commonly affected system in patients with primary immunodeficiencies (PIDs), also known as Inborn Errors of Immunity (IEI).
- Humoral defects (antibody deficiencies) are the most common group of IEI known to present with recurrent sinopulmonary infections.
- IEIs can also manifest with immune dysregulation, bronchiectasis, interstitial lung disease and malignancies.
- Certain organisms may point towards the underlying diagnosis Aspergillus pneumonia in chronic granulomatous disease, Pneumocystis jirovecii pneumonia in severe combined immune deficiency (SCID) and hyper IgM syndrome (HIgM).

- Meyts I, Bousfiha A, Duff C, Singh S, Lau YL, Condino-Neto A, et al. Primary Immunodeficiencies: A Decade of Progress and a Promising Future. Front Immunol. 2021 Feb 18;11:625753. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2020.625753. PMID: 33679719; PMCID: PMC7935502.
- 2. Quinn J, Modell V, Orange JS, Modell F. Growth in diagnosis and treatment of primary immunodeficiency within the global Jeffrey Modell Centers Network. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol. 2022;18(1):19.
- 3. Tangye SG, Al-Herz W, Bousfiha A, Cunningham-Rundles C, Franco JL, Holland SM, et al. Human Inborn Errors of Immunity: 2022 Update on the Classification from the International Union of Immunological Societies Expert Committee. J Clin Immunol. 2022; 42(7):1473-1507.
- 4. Jesenak M, Banovcin P, Jesenakova B, Babusikova E. Pulmonary manifestations of primary immunodeficiency disorders in children. Front Pediatr. 2014 Jul 25;2:77. doi: 10.3389/fped.2014.00077. PMID: 25121077; PMCID: PMC4110629.
- 5. Bruton OC. Agammaglobulinemia. Pediatrics. 1952; 9(6): 722-8.
- 6. O'Toole D, Groth D, Wright H, Bonilla FA, Fuleihan RL, Cunningham-Rundles C, et al. X-Linked Agammaglo bulinemia: Infection Frequencyand Infection-Related

- Mortality in the USIDNET Registry. J Clin Immunol. 2022; 42(4):827-836.
- Yazdani R, Habibi S, Sharifi L, Azizi G, Abolhassani H, Olbrich P, et al. Common Variable Immunodeficiency: Epidemiology, Pathogenesis, Clinical Manifestations, Diagnosis, Classification and Management. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol. 2020; 30(1):14-34.
- Casal A, Riveiro V, Suárez-Antelo J, Ferreiro L, Rodríguez-Núñez N, Lama A, et al. Pulmonary Manifestations of Primary Humoral Deficiencies. Can Respir J. 2022 Apr 10;2022:7140919. doi: 10.1155/2022/7140919. PMID: 35440951; PMCID: PMC9013573.
- 9. Tarzi MD, Grigoriadou S, Carr SB, Kuitert LM, Longhurst HJ. Clinical immunology review series: An approach to the management of pulmonary disease in primary antibody deficiency. Clin Exp Immunol. 2009;155(2):147-155.
- Bonilla FA, Khan DA, Ballas ZK, Chinen J, Frank MM, Hsu JT, et al. Practice parameter for the diagnosis and management of primary immunodeficiency. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2015; 136(5):1186-205.e1-78.
- 11. Hampson FA, Chandra A, Screaton NJ, Condliffe A, Kumararatne DS, Exley AR, et al. Respiratory disease in common variable immunodeficiency and other primary immunodeficiency disorders. Clin Radiol. 2012; 67: 587-95.
- Fan H, Huang L, Yang D, Zhang C, Zeng Q, Yin G, et al. Respiratory infections in X-linked hyper-IgM syndrome with CD40LG mutation: a case series of seven children in China. BMC Pediatr. 2022 Nov 22;22(1):675. doi: 10.1186/s12887-022-03726-z. PMID: 36419145; PMCID: PMC9682706.
- Vignesh P, Rawat A, Kumrah R, Singh A, Gummadi A, Sharma M, et al. Clinical, Immunological and Molecular Features of Severe Combined Immune Deficiency: A Multi-Institutional Experience From India. Front Immunol. 2021 Feb 8;11:619146. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2020.619146. PMID: 33628209; PMCID: PMC7897653..
- Lundgren IS, Englund JA, Burroughs LM, Torgerson TR, Skoda-Smith S. Outcomes and duration of Pneumocystis jiroveci pneumonia therapy in infants with severe combined immunodeficiency. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2012;31(1):95-7.
- Mahdaviani SA, Mohajerani SA, Rezaei N, Casanova JL, Mansouri SD, Velayati AA. Pulmonary manifestations of chronic granulomatous disease. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2013; 9(2):153-60.
- Moazzami B, Yazdani R, Azizi G, Kiaei F, Tafakori M, Modaresi M, et al. Respiratory Complications in Patients with Hyper IgM Syndrome. J Clin Immunol. 2019; 39(6):557-568.
- 17. Donadieu J, Fenneteau O, Beaupain B, Mahlaoui N, Chantelot CB. Congenital neutropenia: diagnosis, molecular bases and patient management. Orphanet J Rare

- Dis. 2011;6:26.
- 18. Buckley RH. Pulmonary complications of primary immunodeficiencies. Pediatr Respir Rev. 2004; 5 (Suppl A):225-33.
- Pham MN, Cunningham-Rundles C. Evaluation of Lymphoproliferative Disease and Increased Risk of Lymphoma in Activated Phosphoinositide 3 Kinase Delta Syndrome: A Case Report With Discussion. Front Pediatr. 2018 Dec 18;6:402. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00402. PMID: 30619796; PMCID: PMC6305443..
- 20. Sarwar G, de Malmanche T, Rassam L, Grainge C, Williams A, Arnold D. Chronic granulomatous disease presenting as refractory pneumonia in late adulthood. Respirol Case Rep. 2015; 3(2):54-6.
- 21. Freeman AF, Marciano BE, Anderson VL, Uzel G, Costas C, Holland SM. Corticosteroids in the treatment of severe nocardia pneumonia in chronic granulomatous disease. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2011; 30(9):806-8.
- 22. Cheraghvandi A, Marjani M, Fallah Tafti S, Cheraghvandi L, Mansouri D. A case of chronic granulomatous disease with a necrotic mass in the bronchus: a case report and a review of literature. Case Rep Pulmonol. 2012;2012:980695. doi: 10.1155/2012/980695. Epub 2012 Dec 13. PMID: 23304608; PMCID: PMC3532912...
- 23. Zhang FZ, Yuan JX, Qin L, Tang LF. Pulmonary Alveolar Proteinosis Due to Pneumocystis carinii in Type 1 Hyper-IgM Syndrome: A Case Report. Front Pediatr. 2020 Jun 11;8:264. doi: 10.3389/fped.2020.00264. PMID: 32596190; PMCID: PMC7301693..
- 24. Flinn AM, Gennery AR. Adenosine deaminase deficiency: a review. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2018;13(1):65.
- 25. Papadopoulou-Alataki E. Upper airway considerations in hereditary angioedema. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010; 10:20 -5.
- Wall LA, Wisner EL, Gipson KS, Sorensen RU. Bronchiectasis in Primary Antibody Deficiencies: A Multidisciplinary Approach. Front Immunol. 2020; 31; 11:522.
- 27. Cunningham-Rundles C, Lieberman P, Hellman G, Chaganti RS. Non-Hodgkin lymphoma in common variable immunodeficiency. Am J Hematol. 1991; 37(2):69-74.
- 28. Agarwal S, Cunningham-Rundles C. Thymoma and immunodeficiency (Good syndrome): A report of 2 unusual cases and review of the literature. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2007; 98(2):185-90.
- 29. Jeffrey Modell Foundation. Primary immunodeficiency resource centre. https://info4pi.org/library/educational-materials/. Accessed 7 April 2023.
- 30. Bhattad S, Mohite SM. Laboratory clues to primary immunodeficiency disorders. Indian J Pract Pediatr . 2021; 23(2):101.

### INVESTIGATIONS IN OBSTRUCTIVE **SLEEP APNEA**

### \* Neha Mohan Rao \*\* Ilin Kinimi

**Abstract**: Quality sleep is essential for normal growth and development of a child. Obstructive sleep apnea in children is an under-recognized entity, which if present, significantly affects a child's quality of life. Early recognition of the condition and formal evaluation with a polysomnography, the gold standard for diagnosis of OSA, enhances the child's daytime functionality. Other supportive investigations that help identify the cause of upper airway obstruction are useful. Clinical correlation of the data obtained from tests is essential. Untreated obstructive sleep apnea can have adverse long term metabolic, cardiovascular and neurobehavioral effects.

**Keywords:** Pediatric obstructive sleep apnea, Polysomnography.

- \* Pediatric Pulmonologist, Bangalore Baptist Hospital,
- Pediatric Pulmonologist, Manipal Hospital, Bengaluru

email: ilinkinimi@gmail.com

### **Points to Remember**

- A good sleep history is part of pediatric history taking in the outpatient department.
- Children with craniofacial syndromes such as Pierre Robin sequence, Trisomy 21, neuromuscular disorders and obesity are at high risk for developing OSA.
- Polysomnography or level 1 sleep study is the gold standard investigation for the diagnosis of pediatric OSA.
- Untreated OSA can have adverse neurobehavioral, cognitive, metabolic and cardiovascular effects.
- Salivary and urinary biomarkers have been evaluated for diagnosis but still further data are needed for better evaluation.
- Multidisciplinary approach is the key to optimal management of OSA.

- 1. Marcus CL, Brooks LJ, Ward SD, Draper KA, Gozal D, HalbowerAC, et al. Diagnosis and management of childhood obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Pediatrics. 2012 Sep; 130(3):e714-55.
- 2. Brietzke SE, Katz ES, Roberson DW. Can history and physicalexamination reliably diagnose pediatric obstructive sleep apnea/hypopnea syndrome? A systematic review of the literature. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2004 Dec; 131(6):827-32.
- 3. Incerti Parenti S, Fiordelli A, Bartolucci ML, Martina S, D'Anto V, Alessandri-Bonetti G. Diagnostic accuracy of screening questionnaires for obstructive sleep apnea in children: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep Med Rev. 2021 Jun; 57:101464.
- 4. Wu CR, Tu YK, Chuang LP, Gordon C, Chen NH, Chen PY, et al. Diagnostic meta-analysis of the Pediatric Sleep Questionnaire, OSA-18, and pulse oximetry in detecting pediatric obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Sleep Med Rev. 2020 Dec;54:101355. doi: 10.1016/ j.smrv.2020. 101355. Epub 2020 Jul 15. PMID: 32750654.
- 5. Chervin RD, Hedger K, Dillon JE, Pituch KJ. Pediatric sleep questionnaire (PSQ): validity and reliability of scales

- for sleep-disordered breathing, snoring, sleepiness, and behavioral problems. Sleep Med. 2000 Feb 1; 1(1):21-32.
- 6. Brouillette RT, Morielli A, Leimanis A, Waters KA, Luciano R, Ducharme FM. Nocturnal pulse oximetry as an abbreviated testingmodality for pediatric obstructive sleep apnea. Pediatrics. 2000 Feb; 105(2):405-12.
- 7. Parakh A, Dhingra D, Abel F. Sleep studies in children. Indian Pediatr 2021; 58:1085-1090.
- 8. Kirk VG, Bohn SG, Flemons WW, Remmers JE. Comparison of home oximetry monitoring with laboratory polysomnography in children. Chest. 2003 Nov; 124(5): 1702-1708.
- 9. Nixon GM, Kermack AS, Davis GM, Manoukian JJ, Brown KA, Brouillette RT. Planning adenotonsillectomy in children with obstructive sleep apnea: the role of overnight oximetry. Pediatrics. 2004 Jan;113(1 Pt 1): e19-25.
- 10. AASM Manual for the Scoring of Sleep and Associated Events: Rules, Terminology and Technical Specifications (Version 3.0), 2023.
- 11. Teplitzky TB, Zauher A and Isaiah A. Evaluation and diagnosis of pediatric obstructive sleep apnea-An update. Front Sleep 2023 Mar; 2:1127784.doi: 10.3389/frsle. 2023.1127784.
- 12. Thomas RJ, Dalton S, Harman K, Thacker J, Horne RSC, Davey MJ, et al. Smartphone videos to predict the severity of obstructive sleep apnoea. Arch Dis Child. 2022 Feb; 107(2):148-152.
- 13. Gao X, Li Y, Xu W, Han D. Diagnostic accuracy of level IV portable sleep monitors versus polysomnography for pediatric obstructive sleep apnea: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep Med. 2021 Nov; 87:127-137.
- 14. Withers A, Maul J, Rosenheim E, O'Donnell A, Wilson A, Stick S. Comparison of home ambulatory type 2 polysomnography with a portable monitoring device and in-laboratory type 1 polysomnography for the diagnosis of obstructive sleep apnea in children. J Clin Sleep Med. 2022 Feb 1; 18(2):393-402.
- 15. Ioan I, Renard E, Da Mota S, Bonabel C, Tiotiu A, Franco P, et al. Unattended home sleep studies for the diagnosis of obstructive sleep apnea in a population of French children. Sleep Med. 2023 Feb; 102:117-122.

- 16. Quinlan CM, Otero H, Tapia IE. Upper airway visualization in pediatric obstructive sleep apnea. Paediatr Respir Rev. 2019 Nov; 32:48-54.
- 17. Isaiah A, Kiss E, Olomu P, Koral K, Mitchell RB. Characterization of upperairway obstruction using cine MRI in children with residual obstructive sleepapnea after adenotonsillectomy. Sleep Med. 2018 Oct; 50:79-86.
- 18. Gazzaz MJ, Isaac A, Anderson S, Alsufyani N, Alrajhi Y, El-Hakim H. Does druginducedsleep endoscopy change the surgical decision in surgicallynaïve non-syndromic children with snoring/sleep disordered breathing from the standard adenotonsillectomy? A retrospective cohort study. J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2017 Feb 13; 46(1):12.
- 19. Qubty WF, Mrelashvili A, Kotagal S, Lloyd RM. Comorbidities in infants with obstructive sleep apnea. J Clin Sleep Med. 2014 Nov 15; 10(11):1213-6.
- 20. Savini S, Ciorba A, Bianchini C, Stomeo F, Corazzi V, Vicini C, Pelucchi S. Assessment of obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) in children: an update. Acta Otorhinolaryngol Ital. 2019 Oct; 39(5):289-297.
- 21. Teplitzky TB, Pereira KD, Isaiah A. Echocardiographic screening in children with very severe obstructive sleep apnea. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2019 Nov; 126:109626. doi: 10.1016/j.ijporl.2019.109626.
- 22. Santos MG, Pegoraro M, Sandrini F, Macuco EC. Risk factors for the development of atherosclerosis in childhood and adolescence. Arq Bras Cardiol. 2008 Apr; 90(4):276-283.
- 23. Bhattacharjee R, Kheirandish-Gozal L, Kaditis AG, Verhulst SL, Gozal D. C-reactive Protein as a Potential Biomarker of Residual Obstructive Sleep Apnea Following Adenotonsillectomy in Children. Sleep. 2016 Feb 1; 39(2):283-91.
- 24. Bencharit S, Redenz RG, Brody ER, Chiang H. Salivary biomarkers associated with obstructive sleep apnea: a systematic review. Expert Rev Mol Diagn. 2021 Feb;21(2):223-233.
- Fiedorczuk P, Polecka A, Walasek M, Olszewska E (2023).
   Potential Diagnostic and Monitoring Biomarkers of Obstructive Sleep Apnea-Umbrella Review of Meta-Analyses. J Clin Med, 2022 Dec 21;12(1):60. doi: 10.3390/ jcm12010060. PMID: 36614858; PMCID: PMC9821668.

### **OXYGEN THERAPY**

### \*Anjul Dayal \*\*Uday Kumar \*\*\*Shaheera Eram

Abstract: Oxygen therapy is inherent part of pediatric critical care, with supplemental oxygen offered to nearly every acutely ill child. However, there are potential risks related to the administration of oxygen and therefore only the lowest amount of oxygen should be given for the shortest period of time to maintain required oxygen saturation. Observational data suggest harm from too generous use of supplemental oxygen in children. Oxygen therapy is useful in treating hypoxemia but is often thought of as harmless. Risk, cost and benefits of oxygen therapy should be considered in the same way as other drugs. This review highlights the benefits, various oxygen delivery devices with indications and potential risk of oxygen administration.

**Keywords:** Oxygen delivery, Oxygen therapy, Oxygen review, Gas therapy.

- \* Senior Consultant Pediatric Intensivist
- \*\* Consultant Pediatric Intensivist
- \*\*\* Consultant Pediatrician,
  Ankura Hospital for Women and Children,
  Hyderabad.

email: dayalanjul@gmail.com

### **Points to Remember**

- Oxygen administration should be considered in the same way as other drugs and titrated to a measured end point to avoid excessive or inadequate dosing.
- Both hypoxemia and hyperoxemia are harmful, oxygen treatment should be commenced or increased to avoid hypoxemia and should be reduced or ceased to avoid hyperoxemia.
- For children receiving oxygen therapy, SpO<sub>2</sub> targets will vary according to the age of the child, clinical condition and trajectory of illness.
- Oxygen treatment is usually not necessary unless the SpO, is less than 92%.
- Device selection is vitally important in pediatric population as the size of the patients is highly variable, and their acceptance of a device is an additional consideration.

- Raman S, Prince NJ, Hoskote A, Ray S, Peters MJ. Admission paO2 and mortality in critically ill children: A cohort study and systematic review. Pediatr Crit Care Med2016; 17:e444-e450.
- 2. Ghoshal AG. Hypoxemia and oxygen therapy. JAssoc Chest Physicians. 2020; 8:42-7.
- 3. Abdelsalam M, Cheifetz IM. Goal-directed therapy for severely hypoxic patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome: permissive hypoxemia. Respir Care 2010; 55(11):1483-1490.
- 4. Walsh BK, Smallwood CD. Pediatric Oxygen Therapy: A Review and Update. Respir Care2017;62(6):645-661.
- 5. Kacmarek RM, Stoller JK, Heuer AJ, Egan DF. Egan's fundamentals of respiratory care. St. Louis, Missouri: Elsevier/Mosby; 2013:pp 868-870.
- 6. Tosif S, Duke T. Oxygen Therapy for Children with Emergency Signs. J Trop Pediatr, 2017; 63:402-413.
- Eastwood G, Bellomo R, Bailey M, Taori G, Pilcher D, Young P, et al. Arterial oxygen tension and mortality in mechanically ventilated patients. Intensive Care Med 2012; 38: 91-98.

- 8. Nunn JF. Conscious volunteers developed hypoxemia and pulmonary collapse when breathing air and oxygen at reduced lung volume. Anesthesiology 2003; 98(1):258-259.
- 9. Marini JJ. Too much fortoolong-wrong targets, wrong timing? Crit Care Med 2013; 41(2):664-665.
- Graham H, Bakare AA, Fashanu C, Wiwa O, Duke T, Falade AG. Oxygen therapy for children: A key tool in reducing deaths from pneumonia. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2020 Jun; 55Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S61-S64.
- 11. Martin DS, Grocott MP. Oxygen therapy in critical illness: precisecontrol of arterial oxygenation and permissive hypoxemia. Crit Care Med 2013; 41(2): 23-32.
- 12. World health organization 2016. Oxygen therapy for children; 30-31, ISBN 978 92 4 154955 4, (NLM classification: WS 29).
- 13. Maitland K, Kiguli S, Olupot-Olupot P, Hamaluba M, Thomas K, Alaroker F, et al; COAST Trial Group: Randomised controlled trial of oxygen therapy and high-flow nasal therapy in African children with pneumonia. Intensive Care Med 2021; 47:566-576.

### ALLERGEN IMMUNOTHERAPY

#### \* Krishna Mohan R

Abstract: Allergen immunotherapy is a disease-modifying therapy, used in the treatment of many allergic conditions where gradually increasing doses of specific allergen extracts are administered to achieve clinical tolerance to the allergens which produce symptoms in patients. The major indications for allergen immunotherapy are allergic rhinitis, asthma, insect venom hypersensitivity and allergic conjunctivitis. There are different types of immunotherapy based on the route of administration and duration of therapy. It is highly imperative to use high quality standardised allergen extracts in adequate doses where possible.

**Keywords**: Allergen immunotherapy, Subcutaneous immunotherapy, Sublingual immunotherapy.

 Pediatrician and Pediatric Allergist, Health Services, Kerala.

email: meetkochu@yahoo.com

### **Points to Remember**

- Allergen specific immunotherapy is effective and provides long term disease remission.
- It is the only disease modifying treatment available for diseases like allergic rhinitis and asthma.
- Allergen immunotherapy prevents new sensitization and prevents progression of the allergic disease.
- High quality standardised allergen extract have to be used in adequate doseswhere possible.
- Subcutaneous immunotherapy should only be administered at a medical facility with personnel trained in emergency treatment and kept under observation for 30 minutes after each injection.
- Sublingual immunotherapy is a safe, effective, convenient and promising route especially in pediatric age group.

- Singh S, Sharma BB, Salvi S, Chhatwal J, Jain KC, Kumar L, et al. Allergic rhinitis, rhino conjunctivitis and eczema: prevalence and associated factors in children. Clin Respir J. 2018;12(2):547-556
- Frew AJ. Allergen immunotherapy. J Allergy ClinImmunol. 2010: 125(2):S306-13
- Akdis M, Akdis CA. Mechanism of allergen-specific immunotherapy. J Allergy ClinImmunol 2007; 119: 780-9
- 4. Hassan G, Kant S, Prakash V, Verma AK, Saheer S, Singh A, et al. Allergen immunotherapy: Basic concepts. Indian J Allergy Asthma Immunol 2013; 27:9-18.
- Oktemer T, Altýntoprak N, Muluk NB, Senturk M, Kar M, Bafaqeeh SA. Clinical efficacy of immunotherapy in allergic rhinitis. Am J Rhinol Allergy. 2016; 30(5):4-7.
- 6. Global Strategy for asthma management and prevention. Updated 2022. Accessed on 28th March, 2023.
- 7. Durham SR, Shamji MH. Allergen immunotherapy: past, present and future. Nat Rev Immunol 2023 May; 23(5):317-328.

- 8. Alsamarai AM, Alobaidi AHA, Alwan AM, Abdulaziz ZH, Dawood ZM. Systemic Adverse Reaction to Specific Immunotherapy. J Aller Ther 2011;2:111.
- 9. Rodríguez Del Río P, Vidal C, Just J, Tabar AI, Sanchez-Machin I, Eberle P, et al. The European Survey on Adverse Systemic Reactions in Allergen Immunotherapy (EASSI): A pediatric assessment. Pediatr Allergy Immunol. 2017; 28(1):60-70.

### WHAT'S NEW IN CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC HERNIA?

\* Velmurugan R \*\* Evangeline Sameul \*\* Vignesh Rajendran V

**Abstract:** Despite great strides in surgical and ventilatory management of congenital diaphragmatic hernia, survival rates and long term outcomes seem to have plateaued out. This article attempts to review the advances in the early detection of and antenatal management of diaphragmatic hernia and the outcomes of postnatal management of these children.

**Keywords:** Congenital diaphramatic hernia.

- \* Professor of Pediatric Surgery,
- \*\* Resident in Pediatric Surgery, Madras Medical College / ICH, Chennai.
- \*\* Resident in General Surgery, Stanley Medical College, Chennai.

### **Points to Remember**

- Prenatal diagnosis of CDH is crucial so that the labour room team is prepared for the infant and the birth occurs in a center equipped for management of CDH.
- As pulmonary hypertension is a key factor that translates into increased mortality and morbidity in CDH, addressing the same with medication and ventilation and balancing both should be the key.
- Preoperative stabilization and post operative care are the two pillars of success.

- McGivern MR, Best KE, Rankin J, Wellesley D, Greenlees R, Addor MC, et al. Epidemiology of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in Europe: A register-based study. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2015 Mar;100(2):F137-144.
- Yang W, Carmichael SL, Harris JA, Shaw GM. Epidemiologic characteristics of congenital diaphragmatic hernia among 2.5 million California births, 1989-1997. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. 2006 Mar; 76(3): 170–174.
- 3. Tennant PWG, Samarasekera SD, Pless-Mulloli T, Rankin J. Sex differences in the prevalence of congenital anomalies: a population-based study. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. 2011 Oct;91(10):894–901.
- 4. Brownlee EM, Howatson AG, Davis CF, Sabharwal AJ. The hidden mortality of congenital diaphragmatic hernia: A 20-year review. J Pediatr Surg. 2009 Feb; 44(2): 317-320.
- 5. Stege G, Fenton A, Jaffray B. Nihilism in the 1990s: The true mortality of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatrics. 2003 Sep; 112(3 Pt 1):532-535.
- Blumenfeld YJ, Belfort MA. New approaches to congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 2020 Apr; 32(2):121-127.
- 7. Lj W. Development of the human diaphragm and pleural sacs. Contrib Embryol. 1954; 35:109-133.
- 8. Iritani I. Experimental study on embryogenesis of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Anat Embryol (Berl). 1984; 169(2):133-139.

- 9. Mayer S, Metzger R, Kluth D. The embryology of the diaphragm. Semin Pediatr Surg. 2011 Aug;20(3):161-169.
- Kluth D, Kangah R, Reich P, Tenbrinck R, Tibboel D, Lambrecht W. Nitrofen-induced diaphragmatic hernias in rats: an animal model. J Pediatr Surg. 1990 Aug; 25(8):850-854.
- 11. Clugston RD, Zhang W, Greer JJ. Early development of the primordial mammalian diaphragm and cellular mechanisms of nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. 2010 Jan; 88(1):15-24.
- 12. Malowitz JR, Hornik CP, Laughon MM, Testoni D, Cotten CM, Clark RH, et al. Management Practice and Mortality for Infants with Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia. Am J Perinatol. 2015 Jul; 32(9):887-894.
- 13. Zalla JM, Stoddard GJ, Yoder BA. Improved mortality rate for congenital diaphragmatic hernia in the modern era of management: 15 year experience in a single institution. J Pediatr Surg. 2015 Apr; 50(4):524-527.
- 14. Kim FY, Barnes EA, Ying L, Chen C, Lee L, Alvira CM, et al. Pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell endothelin-1 expression modulates the pulmonary vascular response to chronic hypoxia. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2015 Feb 15; 308(4):L368-377.
- 15. Dingemann J, Doi T, Ruttenstock E, Puri P. Upregulation of Endothelin Receptors A and B in the nitrofen induced hypoplastic lung occurs early in gestation. Pediatr Surg Int. 2010 Jan; 26(1):65-69.
- de Lagausie P, de Buys-Roessingh A, Ferkdadji L, Saada J, Aisenfisz S, Martinez-Vinson C, et al. Endothelin receptor expression in human lungs of newborns with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J Pathol. 2005 Jan; 205(1):112-118.
- 17. Keller RL, Tacy TA, Hendricks-Munoz K, Xu J, Moon-Grady AJ, Neuhaus J, et al. Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: endothelin-1, pulmonary hypertension, and disease severity. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010 Aug 15; 182(4):555-561.
- Sbragia L, Nassr ACC, Gonçalves FLL, Schmidt AF, Zuliani CC, Garcia PV, et al. VEGF receptor expression decreases during lung development in congenital diaphragmatic hernia induced by nitrofen. Braz J Med Biol Res. 2014 Feb 17;47(2):171-178.
- Compernolle V, Brusselmans K, Acker T, Hoet P, Tjwa M, Beck H, et al. Loss of HIF-2alpha and inhibition of VEGF impair fetal lung maturation, whereas treatment with VEGF prevents fatal respiratory distress in premature mice. Nat Med. 2002 Jul; 8(7):702-710.
- 20. Keijzer R, Liu J, Deimling J, Tibboel D, Post M. Dual-hit hypothesis explains pulmonary hypoplasia in the nitrofen model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Am J Pathol. 2000 Apr; 156(4):1299-1306.
- 21. George DK, Cooney TP, Chiu BK, Thurlbeck WM. Hypoplasia and immaturity of the terminal lung unit

- (acinus) in congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1987 Oct; 136(4):947-950.
- DiFiore JW, Fauza DO, Slavin R, Wilson JM. Experimental fetal tracheal ligation and congenital diaphragmatic hernia: a pulmonary vascular morphometric analysis. J Pediatr Surg. 1995 Jul; 30(7):917-23; discussion 923-924.
- 23. Byrne FA, Keller RL, Meadows J, Miniati D, Brook MM, Silverman NH, et al. Severe left diaphragmatic hernia limits size of fetal left heart more than does right diaphragmatic hernia. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2015 Dec; 46(6):688-694.
- 24. Kinsella JP, Ivy DD, Abman SH. Pulmonary vasodilator therapy in congenital diaphragmatic hernia: acute, late, and chronic pulmonary hypertension. Semin Perinatol. 2005 Apr; 29(2):123-128.
- 25. Graham G, Devine PC. Antenatal diagnosis of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Semin Perinatol. 2005 Apr; 29(2):69-76.
- Jani JC, Nicolaides KH, Gratacós E, Valencia CM, Doné E, Martinez JM, et al. Severe diaphragmatic hernia treated by fetal endoscopic tracheal occlusion. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2009 Sep; 34(3):304-310.
- 27. Jani J, Keller RL, Benachi A, Nicolaides KH, Favre R, Gratacos E, et al. Prenatal prediction of survival in isolated left-sided diaphragmatic hernia. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2006 Jan; 27(1):18-22.
- 28. Style CC, Mehollin-Ray AR, Verla MA, Lau PE, Cruz SM, Espinoza J, et al. Timing of Prenatal Magnetic Resonance Imaging in the Assessment of Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia. Fetal Diagn Ther. 2020; 47(3):205-213.
- Ruano R, Lazar DA, Cass DL, Zamora IJ, Lee TC, Cassady CI, et al. Fetal lung volume and quantification of liver herniation by magnetic resonance imaging in isolated congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2014 Jun; 43(6):662-9.
- 30. Chiba T, Albanese CT, Farmer DL, Dowd CF, Filly RA, Machin GA, et al. Balloon tracheal occlusion for congenital diaphragmatic hernia: experimental studies. J Pediatr Surg. 2000 Nov; 35(11):1566-1570.
- 31. Harrison MR, Mychaliska GB, Albanese CT, Jennings RW, Farrell JA, Hawgood S, et al. Correction of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in utero IX: fetuses with poor prognosis (liver herniation and low lung-to-head ratio) can be saved by fetoscopic temporary tracheal occlusion. J Pediatr Surg. 1998 Jul; 33(7):1017-1022; discussion 1022-1023.
- 32. Harrison MR, Albanese CT, Hawgood SB, Farmer DL, Farrell JA, Sandberg PL, et al. Fetoscopic temporary tracheal occlusion by means of detachable balloon for congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2001 Sep; 185(3):730-733.

- 33. Van der Veeken L, Russo FM, De Catte L, Gratacos E, Benachi A, Ville Y, et al. Fetoscopic endoluminal tracheal occlusion and reestablishment of fetal airways for congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Gynecol Surg. 2018; 15(1):19.
- 34. Bin Saddiq W, Piedboeuf B, Laberge JM, Gamache M, Petrov P, Hashim E, et al. The effects of tracheal occlusion and release on type II pneumocytes in fetal lambs. J Pediatr Surg. 1997 Jun; 32(6):834-838.
- 35. Papadakis K, De Paepe ME, Tackett LD, Piasecki GJ, Luks FI. Temporary tracheal occlusion causes catch-up lung maturation in a fetal model of diaphragmatic hernia. J Pediatr Surg. 1998 Jul; 33(7):1030-1037.
- Harrison MR, Keller RL, Hawgood SB, Kitterman JA, Sandberg PL, Farmer DL, et al. A randomized trial of fetal endoscopic tracheal occlusion for severe fetal congenital diaphragmatic hernia. N Engl J Med. 2003 Nov 13; 349(20):1916-1924.
- 37. Ruano R, Yoshisaki CT, da Silva MM, Ceccon MEJ, Grasi MS, Tannuri U, et al. A randomized controlled trial of fetal endoscopic tracheal occlusion versus postnatal management of severe isolated congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2012 Jan; 39(1): 20-27.
- Style CC, Olutoye OO, Belfort MA, Ayres NA, Cruz SM, Lau PE, et al. Fetal endoscopic tracheal occlusion reduces pulmonary hypertension in severe congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2019 Dec; 54(6):752-758.
- Sananès N, Regnard P, Mottet N, Miry C, Fellmann L, Haelewyn L, et al. Evaluation of a new balloon for fetal endoscopic tracheal occlusion in the nonhuman primate model. PrenatDiagn. 2019 Apr; 39(5):403-408.
- 40. DeKoninck P, Toelen J, Roubliova X, Carter S, Pozzobon M, Russo FM, et al. The use of human amniotic fluid stem cells as an adjunct to promote pulmonary development in a rabbit model for congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Prenat Diagn. 2015 Sep; 35(9): 833-840.
- Takayama S, Sakai K, Fumino S, Furukawa T, Kishida T, Mazda O, et al. An intra-amniotic injection of mesenchymal stem cells promotes lung maturity in a rat congenital diaphragmatic hernia model. Pediatr Surg Int. 2019 Dec; 35(12):1353-1361.
- 42. Hutcheon JA, Butler B, Lisonkova S, Marquette GP, Mayer C, Skoll A, et al. Timing of delivery for pregnancies with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. BJOG. 2010 Dec; 117(13):1658-1662.
- 43. Sengupta S, Carrion V, Shelton J, Wynn RJ, Ryan RM, Singhal K, et al. Adverse neonatal outcomes associated with early-term birth. JAMA Pediatr. 2013 Nov; 167(11):1053-1059.
- 44. Snoek KG, Reiss IKM, Greenough A, Capolupo I, Urlesberger B, Wessel L, et al. Standardized Postnatal

- Management of Infants with Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia in Europe: The CDH EURO Consortium Consensus 2015 Update. Neonatology. 2016 Apr 15;110(1):66-74.
- 45. Ito M, Terui K, Nagata K, Yamoto M, Shiraishi M, Okuyama H, et al. Clinical guidelines for the treatment of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatrics International. 2021; 63(4):371-390.
- 46. Snoek KG, Capolupo I, van Rosmalen J, Hout L de J van den, Vijfhuize S, Greenough A, et al. Conventional Mechanical Ventilation Versus High-frequency Oscillatory Ventilation for Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia: A Randomized Clinical Trial (The VICI-trial). Ann Surg. 2016 May; 263(5):867-874.
- 47. Roberts JD, Polaner DM, Lang P, Zapol WM. Inhaled nitric oxide in persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn. Lancet. 1992 Oct 3; 340(8823):818-819.
- 48. Lakshminrusimha S, Keszler M, Kirpalani H, Van Meurs K, Chess P, Ambalavanan N, et al. Milrinone in congenital diaphragmatic hernia a randomized pilot trial: study protocol, review of literature and survey of current practices. Matern Health NeonatolPerinatol. 2017 Nov 27; 3:27. 1-15.
- 49. Kumar P, Committee on Fetus and Newborn, American Academy of Pediatrics. Use of inhaled nitric oxide in preterm infants. Pediatrics. 2014 Jan; 133(1):164-170.
- Okolo FC, Zhang G, Rhodes J, Potoka DA. Intra-amniotic Sildenafil Treatment Modulates Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Phenotype in the Nitrofen Model of Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia. Sci Rep. 2018 Dec 5; 8(1):17668.
- Russo FM, Toelen J, Eastwood MP, Jimenez J, Miyague AH, Vande Velde G, et al. Transplacental sildenafil rescues lung abnormalities in the rabbit model of diaphragmatic hernia. Thorax. 2016 Jun;71(6):517-525.
- 52. Russo FM, Benachi A, Van Mieghem T, De Hoon J, Van Calsteren K, Annaert P, et al. Antenatal sildenafil administration to prevent pulmonary hypertension in congenital diaphragmatic hernia (SToP-PH): study protocol for a phase I/IIb placenta transfer and safety study. Trials. 2018 Sep 27; 19(1):524. 2018 Dec;19(1):1-8 (To Verify)
- Chandrasekharan PK, Rawat M, Madappa R, Rothstein DH, Lakshminrusimha S. Congenital Diaphragmatic hernia

   A review. Matern Health Neonatol Perinatol. 2017;3:6.
   doi: 10.1186/s40748-017-0045-1. PMID: 28331629;
   PMCID: PMC5356475.
- 54. Frenckner B, Radell P. Respiratory failure and extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. Semin Pediatr Surg. 2008 Feb;17(1):34-41.
- 55. Tsao K, Lally KP. Surgical management of the newborn with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Fetal Diagn Ther. 2011; 29(1):46-54.
- Desai AA, Ostlie DJ, Juang D. Optimal timing of congenital diaphragmatic hernia repair in infants on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. Semin Pediatr Surg. 2015 Feb; 24(1):17-19.

- Brant-Zawadzki PB, Fenton SJ, Nichol PF, Matlak ME, Scaife ER. The split abdominal wall muscle flap repair for large congenital diaphragmatic hernias on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. J Pediatr Surg. 2007 Jun; 42(6):1047-1051
- 58. Barnhart DC, Jacques E, Scaife ER, Yoder BA, Meyers RL, Harman A, et al. Split abdominal wall muscle flap repair vs patch repair of large congenital diaphragmatic hernias. J Pediatr Surg. 2012 Jan;47(1):81-86.
- 59. Muratore CS, Kharasch V, Lund DP, Sheils C, Friedman S, Brown C, et al. Pulmonary morbidity in 100 survivors of congenital diaphragmatic hernia monitored in a multidisciplinary clinic. J Pediatr Surg. 2001 Jan;36(1):133-140.
- Trachsel D, Selvadurai H, Bohn D, Langer JC, Coates AL. Long-term pulmonary morbidity in survivors of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2005 May; 39(5):433-439.
- Peetsold MG, Kneepkens CMF, Heij HA, IJsselstijn H, Tibboel D, Gemke RJBJ. Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: long-term risk of gastroesophageal reflux disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2010 Oct;51(4):448-453.
- Morandi A, Macchini F, Zanini A, Pasqua N, Farris G, Canazza L, et al. Endoscopic Surveillance for Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia: Unexpected Prevalence of Silent Esophagitis. Eur J Pediatr Surg. 2016 Jun;26(3):291-295.
- 63. Morini F, Capolupo I, Masi R, Ronchetti MP, Locatelli M, Corchia C, et al. Hearing impairment in congenital diaphragmatic hernia: the inaudible and noiseless foot of time. J Pediatr Surg. 2008 Feb;43(2):380-384.
- 64. Partridge EA, Bridge C, Donaher JG, Herkert LM, Grill E, Danzer E, et al. Incidence and factors associated with sensorineural and conductive hearing loss among survivors of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J Pediatr Surg. 2014 Jun; 49(6):890-894.
- Russell KW, Barnhart DC, Rollins MD, Hedlund G, Scaife ER. Musculoskeletal deformities following repair of large congenital diaphragmatic hernias. J Pediatr Surg. 2014 Jun; 49(6):886-889.

### **GENERAL ARTICLE**

### **ENTERAL NUTRITION IN PICU**

### \* Rajendran K \*\* Madhumitha V

**Abstract**: *Nutrition is an important component of patient* management in pediatric intensive care unit (PICU). Malnutrition in children hospitalized in PICU is associated with increased risk of hemodynamic instability, with the potential to adversely influence the outcome of critical illness. Enteral nutrition is preferred because it is simple, economical and relatively free of complications. Contraindications to enteral nutrition are very few, such as intestinal dysmotility, toxic megacolon, peritonitis, gastrointestinal bleeding, high output enteric fistula, severe vomiting and intractable diarrhea. Despite its simplicity, there are some complications during enteral feeding in critically ill children, such as aspiration, bacterial contamination of feeds, feed intolerance and refeeding syndrome. Nutrition is an important component of patient management in pediatric intensive care unit (PICU). Accurate assessment of energy requirements and provision of optimal nutrition support therapy through appropriate route is an important goal of pediatric critical care. Enteral nutrition is preferred in children with functioning gastrointestinal tract. Organizing a nutrition support team constituted by a pediatrician specialized or interested in nutrition and a dietician along with pharmacist and nurses within the PICU team is a wise idea to plan and execute enteral nutrition. Close monitoring is required to reduce the complications and increase the success rate. This review describes the science and challenges related to enteral nutrition prescription and delivery in critically ill children.

**Keywords:** Enteral nutrition, Children, Critical illness, PICU.

- \* Professor and Head email: drrajendrantk@gmail.com
- Junior Resident,
   Department of Pediatrics and Neonatology,
   KMCH Institute of Health Sciences and Research,
   Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu.

### **Points to Remember**

- Among children admitted in PICU, common conditions which predispose to under nutrition are congenital heart disease, chronic lung diseases and cystic fibrosis, neuromuscular diseases and genetic syndromes requiring long term nutritional support
- Benefits of enteral nutrition include its simplicity and ability in maintaining physiological and functional integrity of gastrointestinal mucosa.
- Absolute contraindications to enteral nutrition include, paralytic or mechanical ileus, intestinal obstruction, bowel perforation and necrotizing enterocolitis.
- Disease specific formulations are available for specific conditions such as renal disease or hyperammonemia and cow's milk protein allergy (with reduced proteins, extensively hydrolyzed protein or amino acid formulas).
- Complications are minimal and include tube dislodgement, aspiration and refeeding syndrome.
- Monitoring of vital signs, growth parameters, abdominal girth and biochemical parameters are essential to identify the complications

### **Bibliography**

- Mehta NM, Compher C, A.S.P.E.N. Board of Directors. A.S.P.E.N.Clinical Guidelines: nutrition support of the critically ill child. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 2009; 33:260-76.
- Lee JH, Rogers E, Chor YK, Samransamruajkit R, Koh PL, Miqdady M, et al. Optimal nutrition therapy in pediatric critical care in the Asia-Pacific and Middle East: A consensus. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 2016 Jan 1; 25(4): 676-696.
- 3. Brown AM, Carpenter D, Keller G, Morgan S, Irving SY. Enteral Nutrition in the PICU: Current Status and Ongoing Challenges. J Pediatr Intensive Care. 2015 Jun;4(2): 111-120.
- Braegger C, DecsiT, Dias JA, Hartman C, Kolaèek S, Koletzko B, et al. ESPGHAN Committee on Nutrition: Practical Approach to Pediatric Enteral Nutrition: A Comment by the ESPGHAN Committee on Nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2010; 51(1): 110-122.
- 5. Mehta NM. Approach to enteral feeding in the PICU. Nutr Clin Pract. 2009 Jun-Jul; 24(3):377-87.

### **DRUG PROFILE**

# DOSAGE ADJUSTMENTS IN PATIENTS WITH RENAL IMPAIRMENT - ANTIBIOTICS - PART 1

### \* Rehna K Rahman \*\* Jeeson C Unni

Abstract: Dosages of commonly used antibiotics need to be modified in renal impairment to ensure antimicrobial efficacy and to avoid toxicity. Based on the pharmacodynamics of the antibiotic, modifications may be either by adjusting dosage itself or by adjusting the the interval between doses. With antibiotics exhibiting time dependent killing properties, dosage adjustment is required Whereas, with those exhibiting concentration dependent bacterial killing like aminoglycosides, dosing interval needs to be adjusted. In this article, dosage adjustments for beta lactams, cephalosporins, carbepenems and macrolides are discussed.

**Keywords:** Renal impairment, Glonurelar filtration rate, Creatinine clearance, Dosage adjustment.

- \* Pediatric Nephrologist, Aster MIMS, Calicut
- \*\* Editor-in-Chief, IAP Drug Formulary, Senior Consultant, Aster Medcity, Kochi.

email: jeeson1955@gmail.com

### Points to Remember

- No dose modification is required with GFR > 30mL/min, while with lower GFRs, dose alteration or spacing out of doses is recommended. Modifications depend on the individual antibiotic.
- Beta-lactam antibiotics are hydrophilic molecules and most beta-lactams are eliminated primarily through the kidneys.
- For macrolides like erythromycin or azithromycin which are predominantly excreted in the bile, there is no dosage change in renal impairment.

- Pediatric Formulary Committee. British National Formulary for Children 2013-2014: The Authority on the Selection and Use of Medicines in Children. BMJ Group, Pharmaceutical Press and RCPCH Publications Limited; 2013.
- 2. Levy J, Brown E, Daley C, Lawrence A. Oxford Handbook of Dialysis, 3rd edn., Oxford, UK, Oxford University Press 2009
- Veltri MA, Neu AM, Fivush BA, Parekh RS, Furth SL. Drug dosing during intermittent hemodialysis and continuous renal replacement therapy, special considerations in pediatric patients. Pediatr Drugs 2004; 6 (1): 45-65
- 4. Daschner M. Drug Dosage in Children with Reduced Renal Function. Pediatr Nephrol 2005; 20: 1675-1686
- 5. Gt Ormond St Hospital for Children NHS Trust Antibiotic Policy - Piperacillin + Tazobactam Dose Banding, V4, February 2013
- Veltri MA, Neu AM, Fivush BA, Parekh RS, Furth SL. Drug dosing during intermittent hemodialysis and continuous renal replacement therapy: Special considerations in pediatric patients. Pediatric Drugs. 2004 Jan; 6:45-65.
- Paul Goodyer, Kishore Phadke, Kishore D. Phadke, Paul Goodyer, Martin Bitzan. Manual of Pediatric Nephrology. Springer - Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2014
- 8. American Hospital Formulary Service (AHFS) Drug Information, 2009. American Society of Health-System Pharmacists, Bethesda, 2009.

- Chao CM, Lai CC, Lee CH, Tang HJ. Optimal Dose of Cefoperazone-Sulbactam for Acute Bacterial Infection in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. Antibiotics (Basel). 2022 Apr 30;11(5):610. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics11050610.
- 10. Pais GM, Chang J, Barreto EF, Stitt G, Downes KJ, Alshaer MH, et al. Clinical Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Cefepime. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2022 Jul; 61(7):929-953.
- Khorasani-Zadeh A, Greca I, Gada K. Cefepime-Induced Seizures: The Overlooked Outpatient Adverse Reaction. Cureus. 2020 Jul 19; 12(7):e9268.

### **CASE REPORT**

### COATOMER ASSOCIATED PROTEIN COMPLEX SUB UNIT ALPHA GENE SYNDROME PRESENTING AS INTERSTITIAL LUNG DISEASE IN AN INFANT

\* Kalpana S \*\* Dharmaprakash A \*\* Rajarajan AC \*\*\* Saranya Manivannan

Abstract: Childhood interstitial lung disease encompasses a heterogeneous group of innate, genetic, infectious and inflammatory diseases, quite different from that seen in adulthood. Although histopathological evidence along with clinical assessment and radiology have helped in making specific diagnoses, wider availability of genetic studies has made noninvasive diagnosis a possibility in these children. Coatomer associated protein complex subunit alpha gene syndrome is a rare genetic autoimmune disorder where new evidence is emerging as a cause of interstitial lung disease in young children.

**Keywords:** COPA syndrome, Interstitial lung disease, Infant.

- 1. Vece, TJ, Watkin, LB, Nicholas SK, Canter D, Braun MC, Guillerman RP et al. COPA Syndrome: a novel autosomal dominant immune dysregulatory disease. J Clin Immunol 2016; 36: 377-387.
- Grijalba CQ, Simoneau T. C66 Pediatric case reports: diffuse lung diseases: Copa Mutation Causing Interstitial Lung Disease In An Infant. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2017; 195.
- 3. Watkin LB, Jessen B, Wiszniewski W, Vece TJ, Jan M, Sha, et al. COPA mutations impair ER-Golgi transport and cause hereditary autoimmune-mediated lung disease and arthritis. Nat Genet. 2015 Jun;47(6):654-60.
- Fremond ML, Nathan N. COPA syndrome, 5 years after: Where are we? Joint Bone Spine . 2021; 88(2), 105070. doi: 10.1016/j.jbspin.2020.09.002. Epub 2020 Sep 9. PMID: 32919065.

<sup>\*</sup> Associate Professor of Pediatrics email: drskalpana@yahoo.co.in

<sup>\*\*</sup> Assistant Professor of Pediatrics

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> Junior Resident in Pediatrics, Government Vellore Medical College, Vellore, Tamil Nadu.

### **CASE VIGNETTE**

### INFANT WITH RECURRENT INFECTIONS Re

\* Janani Sankar \*\* Rajarajeshwari \*\*\* Niranjan Gurunath Hegde \*\*\*\* Meena Sivasankaran

- 1. Bousfiha A, Jeddane L, Picard C, Al-Herz W, Ailal F, ChatilaT et al. Human inborn errors of immunity: 2019 update of the IUIS phenotypical classification. J Clin Immunol 2020 Jan;40:66-81.
- 2. Shearer WT, Dunn E, Notarangelo LD, Dvorak CC, Puck JM, Logan BR, et al. Establishing diagnostic criteria for severe combined immunodeficiency disease (SCID), leaky SCID, and Omenn syndrome: the Primary Immune Deficiency Treatment Consortium experience. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2014 Apr 1; 133(4):1092-8.

<sup>\*</sup> Senior Consultant email:janani.sankar@yahoo.com

<sup>\*\*</sup> Junior Resident in Pediatrics

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> Fellow in Hemato-Oncology

<sup>\*\*\*\*</sup> Consultant in Hemato-Oncology
Kanchi Kamakoti CHILDS Trust Hospital.

### LEARNING TOGETHER

### ARTERIAL BLOOD GAS ANALYSIS MIXED DISTURBANCE

\* Annamalai Vijayaraghavan \*\* Thangavelu S

- WHO Guidelines on Drawing Blood: Best Practices in Phlebotomy. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010.
   Annex I, Modified Allen test. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK138652/
- 2. Marini JJ, Wheeler AP. Critical care medicine: the essentials. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2012 Mar 28.
- 3. Wrenn K. The delta (Ä) gap: An approach to mixed acid-base disorders. Annals of emergency medicine. 1990 Nov 1;19(11):1310-1313.

<sup>\*</sup> Senior Consultant Pediatrician and Academic Coordinator email: profdrav@gmail.com

<sup>\*\*</sup> Director of Pediatrics and Senior Consultant Pediatrician, Mehta Multispeciality Hospitals India Pvt. Ltd., Chennai.